Comparative Reactions of Nitrogen Compounds with the Isoelectronic Series Mercury(II), Thallium(III), and Lead(IV) Acetates. Principles of Oxidation Reactions

RICHARD N. BUTLER

Chemistry Department, University College, Galway, Ireland

Received November 2, 1983

Contents

I.	Introduction	249
II.	The Reagents	250
	A. Preparation	250
	B. Structure and Properties	250
	C. Toxicity and Handling	251
III.	Mechanism: General Discussion	252
	A. The Early Stage	252
	B. Reactive Intermediates	252
	1. Tertiary Nitrogen (>N-)	252
	2. Secondary and Primary Nitrogens	254
	(>NH; -NH ₂)	
IV.	Comparative Reactions with Nitrogen	256
	Functional Groups: Synthesis and Mechanism	
	A. Amines	256
	1. Aliphatic Primary Amines	256
	2. Aromatic Primary Amines	258
	3. Tertiary and Secondary Amines	259
	B. Amides and Hydrazides	260
	C. Nitrogen Chains: Hydrazines, Triazenes,	261
	and Tetrazenes	
	1. Hydrazines	261
	2. Triazenes and Tetrazenes	262
	D. Heteroallylic Systems: >C=X-Z-	263
	1. Enamines	263
	2. Hydrazones	265
	3. Oximes	268
	E. Other Functional Groups	269
	1. Isocyanides	269
	2. Imines and Schiff Bases	270
	3. General	270
	F. Cyclic Nitrogen Compounds	270
	1. Azoles and Five-Membered Rings	270
	2. Azines and Six-Membered Rings	272
	3. General	272

I. Introduction

The compounds mercuric acetate (Hg2A), thallium triacetate (TTA), and lead tetraacetate (LTA) are widely used as reagents in organic synthesis. Their reactions include two- and one-electron reductions of the metal, and the variety of pathways by which this can occur includes both ionic and free radical mechanisms. These may involve intra- and intermolecular nucleophiles including solvent molecules thus leading to a broad and interesting chemistry for the reagents. Substitution and addition reactions in which the metallic oxidation state does not change are also observed. There are some thousands of papers in the literature



R. N. Butler, F.R.S.C., C.Chem., is Professor of Chemistry at University College, Galway. He studied at the National University of Ireland in Cork and at the University of Leicester. He holds B.Sc. (1964), Ph.D. (1967), and D.Sc. (1974) degrees of the National University of Ireland. His main research interests are in the areas of synthesis, mechanisms, and applications of NMR spectroscopy in organic nitrogen chemistry and he directs an active group working in these fields. He has also directed a number of successful University-Industry research projects funded by the Irish Government Industrial Development Authority. He was elected a Member of the Royal Irish Academy in 1979. He has contributed to the development of general and adult chemical education in Ireland and is a committed participant in the work of the Institute of Chemistry of Ireland of which he is a Fellow and currently Vice-President. A keen nonprofessional astronomer, he reported an independent discovery of Nova Cygni in August 1975. His recreational interests include fishing in the Altantic Ocean off the West coast of Ireland.

on the uses and behavior of these three reagents, and this high level of interest has resulted in many major reviews. These include accounts of the chemistry of the individual reagents with special functional groups. Thus, for mercury(II) acetate, reviews include oxymercuation of alkenes,¹⁻⁵ aromatic mercurations,^{6,7} and reactions of mercuric acetate with fatty acids.⁸ There are several excellent reviews of the reactions of organic compounds in general with TTA,9,10 LTA,11-13 and Hg2A.¹⁴ Special reviews dealing with LTA include oxidations of alkenes,¹⁵ alcohols,¹⁶ carboxylic acids,¹⁷ and sugars.¹⁸

While most of the general reviews mentioned⁹⁻¹⁴ include some discussion of reactions with organic nitrogen compounds, there have been but a few reviews devoted specially to this field and these have been confined to LTA. Aylward¹⁹ has discussed the reactions of LTA with organic nitrogen compounds in general, and the reactions of LTA with substituted azomethines (>C= N-) have been discussed in this journal.²⁰ Specialized reviews of the reactions of LTA with substituted oximes,²¹ hydrazones,²² heteroallylic systems,²³ and in oxidative cyclizations of carbonylhydrazones²⁴ have also been published. A review of inorganic mercury–nitrogen compounds²⁵ contains an interesting discussion on the nature of the mercury–nitrogen bond.

This paper is concerned specifically with the behavior of the reagents toward organic nitrogen compounds. Particular emphasis is placed on the comparative chemistry involved since this approach provides useful insights into the factors which determine often widely diverse product control in apparently similar oxidation reactions. Extensive accounts of the reactions of many nitrogen compounds with LTA^{12,13} and Hg2A¹⁴ have been provided recently and these preclude repetition herein other than for the stated comparative purposes of this review. Throughout the review the term "acetoxylation" implies the introduction of the elements of an acetoxyl group $(C_2H_3O_2)$ to a molecule in any form, not necessarily a compact acetoxyl group. The term metalation (e.g., mercuration) means a substitution of the group $M(OAc)_{n-1}$ (e.g., -HgOAc) for a proton in a molecule. This review does not include aminomercurations and solvomercurations in general where the main reaction of the electrophile is with an olefin moiety followed by secondary involvement of an external nitrogen compound or solvent, as a nucleophile. An extensive review of these types of reactions has been provided recently.¹⁴ The following abbreviations are used throughout the review: LTA, Pb(OAc)₄; LDA, Pb(OAc)₂; TTA, Tl(OAc)₃; TTN, Tl(NO₃)₃; TA, TlOAc; Hg2A, $Hg(OAc)_2$ (Hg is preferred over M for mercury, since for example an abbreviation such as "MDA" would not distinguish it from common magnesium or manganese salts); TFA, CF_3COO ; Ac, CH_3CO .

II. The Reagents

A. Preparation

The three reagents are available commerically but the claimed purity of commercial samples should be carefully checked. Hg2A may be easily prepared by heating metallic mercury with peracetic acid in acetic acid solution.²⁶ The peracetic acid may be generated in situ to simplify the process. Thus the reagent may be prepared by slow addition of 50% hydrogen peroxide (60 g) to a stirring mixture of Hg (150 g), glacial acetic acid (450 g), and nitric acid (7 g) at 40 °C.²⁷ A white suspension of HgOAc forms after about 30 min. The mixture is then heated to 80 °C and stirred to give a clear solution. When the mixture is cooled and fractionally evaporated, Hg2A is obtained in high yield.²⁷ LTA and TTA are best prepared from the metal oxides. LTA can be readily obtained by slow addition of red lead oxide (Pb_3O_4) in ca. 20-g quantities to a mixture of acetic acid (550 g) and acetic anhydride (185 g) at 60-80 °C. When the mixture is cooled, white needles of LTA separate.²⁸⁻³⁰ Anhydrous TTA may be prepared by prolonged heating of thallium(III) oxide under reflux in acetic acid containing 20% (v/v) of added water to convert the oxide first to the hydroxide, which is more efficiently converted to the acetate,³¹ followed by crystallizing the product from acetic anhydride.³²

LTA is hydroscopic and turns brown due to lead dioxide formation on exposure to air. It is best stored in the dark at 5 °C and moistened to a paste with acetic acid containing a trace of acetic anhydride. Commercial samples may contain up to 10% acetic acid and usually

TABLE I. Characteristics of the Reagents

property	$Pb(OAc)_4$	$Tl(OAc)_3$	$Hg(OAc)_2$
mp, °C	175 (D)ª	75-80 (D) ^a	(D) <i>a</i>
$E^{\circ}, \mathbf{M}^{n+} + 2e^{-} \rightarrow \mathbf{M}^{(n-2)+}$	1.6-1.75	1.25 ^b	0.85°
E, LUMO (ev), M^{n+}		-3.37 ^d	-4.64^{d}
dissociation, K	е	$1.38 \times$	$3.75 \times$
(HOAc)		10^{-12f}	10^{-9g}

^aDecomposition. ^bReference 35. ^cReference 36. ^dReference 52. ^eNegligible dissociation reported (cf. text). ^f25°C, Ref. 32. ^gReference 42.

require recrystallization from acetic acid before use. Dry samples may be obtained by washing the paste under suction with small quantities of dry diethyl ether or by azeotropic distillation with benzene immediately before use. The surface of pure dry samples begins to turn brown from lead dioxide formation after a few minutes of exposure to the atmosphere. LTA may be estimated by standard sodium thiosulfate titration after treatment with excess potassium iodide using starch indicator. Pure TTA is also rapidly discolored to the oxide by moisture. It also may be estimated by sodium thiosulfate titration after treatment with excess 5% potassium iodide solution using starch indicator.³¹ However, this estimation is more complicated than for LTA due to the formation of $Tl_2(OAc)_4$ from TTA and TA in solution.³¹ Hg2A can be estimated in aqueous solution by standard thiocyanate titration after treatment with nitric acid. In acetic acid solution Hg2A can be titrated against chloride or bromide salts by using indicators such as sodium nitroprusside,³³ diphenylcarbazone,³³ or dithizone.³⁴

B. Structure and Properties

The three reagents contain isoelectronic metal atoms having the electronic configuration $[Xe]4f^{14}5d^{10}$. The oxidation states of the metal are reflected in the decreasing standard reduction potentials (Table I) Pb(IV) > Tl(III) > Hg(II).^{35,36} The molecular formulas suggest decreasing coordination of the metal from lead to mercury and this is illustrated by the crystal structures. In crystalline LTA the metal atom is fully coordinated with the four acetate groups exhibiting eightfold coordination around the central lead atom with a distorted cubic geometry.³⁷ The space group is $P2_{1/c}$ and the unit cell containing eight molecules of LTA is monoclinic with dimensions a, 13.01, b, 26.59, c, 7.86 Å and β , 105° 36'. The structure is built of independent sets of molecules, and there are no bridging atoms between the lead atoms so that each group of four acetate ions belongs to one lead atom only.³⁷ The packing arrangement gives a coordination polyhedron of oxygen atoms around each lead atom which is a flattened dodecahedron.³⁷ Carboxylate anion stretching appears at 1520-1540 cm⁻¹ and 1400-1410 cm⁻¹ and no ester-type carbonyl bands are detected in Nujol or benzene solutions since the oxygen atoms are equivalent.³⁸ Lead salts of this type show a UV band at 220-270 nm due to an $O \rightarrow Pb$ charge transfer.³⁸ Crystalline TTA is monoclinic and a member of the space group $C_{2/c}$ with unit cell dimensions of a, 15.540, b, 8.630, c, 7.848 Å and β , 113.92°.³⁹ The calculated d value is 2.57 for Z = 4(number of gram formula weights per unit cell). The thallium atom lies on a twofold axis achieving irregular eightfold coordination (Figure 1a) with shortest bonds



W- Oxygen neighbours due to crystat packing,

Figure 1. Metal coordination in (a) crystalline $Tl(OAc)_3$ and (b) crystalline $Hg(OAc)_2$.

to the three chelating acetate groups (2.26–2.34 Å). The remaining two Tl–O bonds (2.57 Å) link the molecules into chains along the *C* axis.³⁹ The unit cell of crystalline Hg2A has dimensions of *a*, 7.162, *b*, 20.13, *c* 4.627 Å and β , 107.95°.⁴⁰ The space group is $P2_{1/a}$ with a *Z* value of 4 for *d*, 3.286. The structure consists of isolated Hg2A molecules with mercury–oxygen bond distance 2.07 Å and O–Hg–O angle 176° (Figure 1b).⁴¹ Chains are formed in the *c* direction by two weak Hg–O bonds of 2.73 Å and packing of these chains results in a fifth oxygen neighbor for the Hg atom giving a tetragonal pyramid as the coordination polyhedron for mercury.⁴¹

The coordination shell of LTA appears to undergo a structural change when placed in solvents of high coordinating power. In pyridine, dimethyl sulfoxide, and alcohol solvents the reagent shows ester-type IR bands at 1700 and 1250 cm⁻¹, and it has been suggested that the acetate groups may be monodentate with a hexacoordinate structure of type 1.^{16a} In solutions of



acetic acid and more basic solvents the coordination shells of Hg2A and TTA are probably also completed by solvent molecules occupying the vacant coordination sites. In reactions with nucleophilic nitrogen compounds it is likely that for these reagents the early stages should involve replacement of coordination acetic acid or solvent molecules by the nitrogen substrate.

The reagents exhibit little or no dissociation in solution (Table I). Low dissociation constants have been reported for LTA³² and Hg2A.⁴² Solutions of LTA in acetic acid show virtually no electrical conductivity^{43,44} and crysocopy suggests no dissociation of the compound in solution.⁴⁵ In hydroxyl and carboxylic acid solvents,



Figure 2. Relative HOMO-LUMO separation for a given nucleophile with the reagents.

at ambient temperatures there is a rapid exchange of acetate groups between the metal coordination shell and the bulk solvent. This has been confirmed by isotopic labeling for LTA⁴⁶ and by variable-temperature ¹H NMR for TTA⁴⁷ when the normal methyl singlet (δ 2.02) reversibly split into a doublet showing long range Tl-H coupling $(J_{\text{Tl-H}}, 26.3 \text{ Hz})$ at temperatures below -65 °C in methanol. In solid-state $^{13}\rm C$ CP/MAS spectra of crystalline Hg2A $^{13}\rm C^{-199}\rm Hg$ couplings have also been observed.⁴⁸ These are absent in solution ¹³C NMR spectra due to the rapid exchange of acetate groups with the bulk solvent.48 In solutions of strong acid all or some of the acetate groups may be replaced. For example, when treated with hydrogen chloride or hydrogen bromide in tetrahydrofuran LTA is converted to $Pb(OAc)_2X_2$ ·2THF⁴⁹ and in sulfuric acid it is converted $H_2Pb(HSO_4)_6$.^{50,51} A number of reagents of the type $Pb(OAc)_{4-n}(X)_n$ are now in general use, the most notable being where X is a fluoride or an azide group. Other salts of the metals such as trifluoroacetates and nitrates (of Tl(III)) are also commonly used in synthesis and these will be referred to in the context of the acetates.

The reagents are soft electrophiles with softness decreasing toward Pb(IV). The energies of the empty frontier orbitals calculated by Klopman⁵² showed Tl³⁺ and Hg²⁺ at the lower extremity of 25 cations (Table I). Hard electrophiles such as Al³⁺ and Fe³⁺ had LUMO energies of 6.01 and 2.22 eV compared to -4.64 eV for Hg²⁺. Although these values refer to aqueous solutions, they are important since some nitrogen substrates are borderline soft ambident nucleophiles with relatively high energy HOMOs (Figure 2). Orbital interactions could therefore play a significant role in the reactions of some nitrogen compounds with these metallic acetates although the reactions appear to be mainly charge controlled.

C. Toxicity and Handling

The three reagents are cumulative poisons and need to be handled with respect. The metals are resorbed through the skin from solutions, and the skin threshold limit values are 0.1-0.2 mg/L.^{53,54} Solutions of the reagents should not be spilled or allowed to come in contact with the skin. In the case of poisoning from LTA the metal tends to be stored in the liver and brain and causes a disorder of the central nervous system which reaches a climax 6 weeks after exposure. Lead is subsequently excreted through the kidney and intestine.⁵³ When applied to the rabbit hypothalamus, Hg2A evoked brain seizure by blocking Na transport

SCHEME I



due to inhibition of the membrane ATPase.⁵⁵ Hg2A ingested by rats caused severe kidney damage and the metal was also distributed to the brain and testes. Storage of mercury in the liver and kidney was 10-20 times higher for Hg2A ingestion than for other organomercury compounds.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ The major route for excretion of mercury after Hg2A ingestion was in the urine whereas mercury excretion from phenylmercuric acetate was via bile and the intestinal tract.⁵⁹ Thallium is excreted particularly slowly from the body.⁶⁰ The reagents merit extra precautions during pregnancy. Hg2A is embryopathic and caused delayed growth of animal fetuses as well as weight loss, kidney lesions, diarrhea, tremors, and somnolence in the maternal system.⁶¹ Exposure to small quantities of the reagents over long periods may result in symptoms such as loss of appetite. insomnia, tremor of hands, loss of memory, falling out of hair, weakness of limbs, and irritability. Anyone suspecting of poisoning from the reagents should cease working with them, seek medical advise, and undero urine tests. When these reagents are being used, rubber gloves should be worn and work should be carried out in a restricted controlled area such as a fume hood with good ventilation. The work area should be scrubbed clean regularly to remove dust arising from minor spillage or unwashed vessels. Such precautions which are normal should in fact be applied to most chemicals and represents nothing more than good laboratory management. Small quantities of the salts may be disposed of by running to waste with very high aqueous dilution. Larger quantities should be stored, accumulated; and finally mixed with 10-20 times their weight of sand and buried in an approved place.

III. Mechanism: General Discussion

A. The Early Stage

The early stage of the reaction of the metallic acetates with organic nitrogen compounds involves penetration of the metal coordination shell followed by electrophilic attack⁹⁻¹⁴ on the HOMO of the nucleophile probably giving the species 2 (Scheme I). This stage appears to be charge controlled,⁵² since with ambident systems there is little evidence of attack at the softer site and many reactions have been explained in terms of electrophilic attack at the harder sites (Scheme II).⁶²⁻⁶⁸ Orbital control^{71a} would be most likely to arise with the



softest reagent Hg2A. Orbital control of Hg2A attack on carbon nucleophiles has been suggested with pyridine N-oxide where mercuration occurs at the softer 2-position giving compound $7.^{71b}$ Correlations of the



reaction rates of Hg2A, TTA, and LTA with ionization potentials of alkenes and with the inverse of the HOMO-LUMO gap have been noted suggesting significant orbital control.⁷² In this context it is of interest that the reaction of Hg2A with phenylhydrazones gave the products 8 in a regiospecific reaction⁷³ which is quite different from those of TTA and LTA. However, it is relevant that metallo intermediates can sometimes be isolated from Hg2A reactions with nitrogen compounds and in these the mercury is generally bonded to the harder site. Detailed knowledge of the early stages of the reactions with nitrogen compounds is relatively sparse and possible correlations of rates with ionization potentials and FMO gaps do not appear to have been tested. While the reactions are mainly charge controlled, orbital effects appear to significantly influence the reactions of mercuric acetate with some nitrogen substrates where the HOMO-LUMO separation is appropriate (Figure 2). Further work is required in this area.

B. Reactive Intermediates

1. Tertiary Nitrogen (>N-)

After the initial collision which gives rise to the species 2 the reaction may proceed through a variety of pathways (Schemes I and III). The preferred course depends on a number of factors which include (i) the nature of the substrate and the substituents \mathbb{R}^1 , \mathbb{R}^2 , and \mathbb{R}^3 , (ii) the lability of the nitrogen-metal bond, (iii) the reduction potential of the metal (Table I), and (iv) the nature of the medium and the solvation of the metal ion.

The nature of the substrate is of fundamental importance, and if the nitrogen is tertiary $(\mathbb{R}^1, \mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^3 \neq H)$, the intermediate (2) may cleave by paths a or b (Scheme I) giving the iminium ion (3) or the cation radical 4. It is not necessary to invoke an intermediate such as 2 as a precursor to the cation radical (4), and

SCHEME III



SCHEME IV



some workers appear to prefer a direct one-electron transfer to the electrophile. However, in the absence of some outside source of excitation such as irradiation, the most plausible way by which this could occur is via a molecular collision which implies an N-metal bond, however short-lived.

Path a appears to be preferred when the metal is Hg(II). In an extensive study 25 years ago Leonard⁷⁴⁻⁷⁸ showed that the reaction of excess Hg2A with tertiary amines involved rapid Hg(II) attack on the N atom giving the sequence outlined in Scheme IV. The reaction involved a rate-determining H abstraction from the α -carbon, and the order of C α -H bond cleavage was tertiary > secondary > primary.⁷⁴ The C α -H bond which was cleaved preferentially was trans coplanar to the N-Hg bond and the reaction was an E₂-type elimination giving an iminium salt⁷⁵ (Scheme IV). A subsequent proton abstraction from the β -carbon gave enamine products (Scheme IV). With substrates where the geometry was chosen to preclude a trans elimination of the tertiary C α -H bond, for example compound 12,



SCHEME V



the proton loss occurred from the N–Me group where a trans elimination could still occur giving a demethylation. The cationic species in these reactions may also be attacked by nucleophiles,⁷⁶ and addition of H₂O to give alcohols has been noted.⁷⁹

Demethylation (and dealkylation) of N-methyl tertiary amines is a common reaction with the series of metallic acetates in which the dealkylated group is ejected as an aldehyde. In the reaction of aryldialkylamines with LTA demethylation was preferred over dealkylation.⁸⁰ The reactions with TTA and LTA are dominated by the cation radical species 4 (Scheme I). These have been directly detected by ESR spectra of flow systems of aromatic amines and LTA in dichloromethane-trifluoroacetic acid mixtures.⁸¹ The mechanism outlined in Scheme V has been proposed from a kinetic study of the oxidation of aryldimethylamines with LTA in chloroform-acetic anhydride medium.⁸²⁻⁸⁴ The Hammett ρ value was -2.7 and the reaction was first order in LTA and amine. With TTA as oxidizing agent in the same medium, differences were noted as the Hammett ρ value was -3.5: the reaction showed zero-order dependence on TTA and oxygen became involved in the process by capturing the radicals.⁸⁴ When the reagent was TTN in acetic acid, nitration of the ortho positions of the aromatic ring accompanied demethylation. Thus treatment of compound 13 with TTN in acetic acid gave the product 14



in 59% yield.⁸⁵ The aromatic nuclear substitutions by ligands, which accompanied the oxidative dealkylations, were sensitive to the solvent and were also observed with secondary aromatic amines (cf. Scheme IX).

The lability of the metal-nitrogen bond in species such as 2 (Scheme I) of 5 (Scheme III) decreases in the order $Pb(IV)-N > Tl(III)-N \gg Hg(II)-N$ paralleling the relative reduction potentials of the metal ions. Compounds containing Hg(II)-N bonds are well-known and some intermediates in Hg2A oxidations containing the moiety N-HgOAc have been isolated. Compounds containing the Tl(III)-N and Pb(IV)-N bonds are relatively rare and none appear to have been isolated from TTA and LTA oxidations. The Pb(IV)-N bond in known compounds of the type R₃-Pb-N has been reported⁸⁶ to be extremely labile. The Hg(II)-N bond on the other hand is stable, and in compounds of the type CH_3 -Hg-NH₃⁺ it is reported^{25,87,88} to have a strong covalence, a bond length of 2.05-2.11 Å and a higher force constant (3.00 mdyn/Å) than a range of other metal-nitrogen bonds. While steric effects in species of types 2 and 5 might lengthen the bond altering these parameters, such an effect should be less for N-HgOAc than for $N-Tl(OAc)_2$ and $N-Pb(OAc)_3$ thereby adding further to the relative stability of the mercury-nitrogen bond in these intermediates. Hence in competitive fragmentations of species 2 and 5 the mercury-intermediate should be the longest lived and the most selective in choosing interactions with the more suitable nucleophile. This type of selectivity should decrease from Tl(III) to Pb(IV). In general this seems to be the case with nitrogen compounds, although the balance between the thallium(III) and lead(IV) cases is small and the selectivity order could be reversed in some reactions as it is with some carbon substrates. In general the redox fragmentation of Pb(IV)-N intermediates tends to be rapid and intramolecular, occurring within the coordination sphere of the metal and not involving external nucleophiles. With Tl(III)-N intermediates there often tends to be sufficient time for external nucleophiles, and in particular the solvent, to get involved in the redox process, and Hg(II)-N intermediates there is time for the best external nucleophile to become involved, often attacking the Hg(II) which stays in this oxidation state. This pattern represents a broad general trend which is evident in the reactions described in section IV but there are exceptions and each reaction needs to be assessed on its own right.

2. Secondary and Primary Nitrogens (>NH; -NH₂)

When there is at least one hydrogen on the nitrogen atom of species 2 ($R^1 = H$), the above reactions may still occur with the NH bond intact or more likely the NH proton may be rapidly removed by the acetate ion as a molecule of acetic acid generating the reactive neutral covalent N-metallo intermediate 5 (Scheme I, path c). Such intermediates have been directly detected and isolated from reactions with Hg2A. Their presence has been inferred from kinetic data with the other metals but they have not been isolated. The reactivity of species of type 5 appears to follow the order of lability of the N-metal bond or the related reduction potential of the metal. The main pathways followed by these N-metallo intermediates are summarized in Scheme III.

The homolysis of the N-metal bond can lead to amino radicals (4A) (path a, Scheme III). This radical is isoelectronic with the cation radical (4) (Scheme I) and may exist in equilibrium with this protonated form (4, $R^1 = H$). A redox heterolysis of the *N*-metallo bond in 5 could give rise to the amino cation (4B) (Scheme III, path b) and this cation (4B) could also arise from a secondary oxidation of the amino radical (4A). Paths c and d (Scheme III) represent intramolecular redox processes in the intermediates (5). The former involves loss of a proton from one of the nitrogen substituents, \mathbf{R}^3 , and the latter involves migration of an acetoxy group to an unsaturated site on one of the nitrogen substituents, e.g., R³, giving products of type 10. Such behavior is common in reactions between LTA and appropriate substrates. Attack by a nucleophile on the species (5) may also occur in the redox step. Thus nucleophilic attack may occur on an appropriate site in one of the nitrogen substituents of the intermediate (5) and products of type 10 could arise from acetic acid solvent attack on an unsaturated site in \mathbb{R}^3 which is activated by the adjacent metal atom. If the intermediate (5) is stable and relatively long-lived, selective attack on the metal by the parent nitrogen compound may also occur (path e, Scheme III). This appears to arise only with Hg2A, and stable products of type 11 are exclusive to this reagent. When the parent nitrogen substrate contains a primary nitrogen atom, $-NH_2$, the intermediate (2) will contain two N-H bonds. All of the subsequent pathways mentioned are still possible. An added possibility is the loss of two molecules of acetic acid to give a nitrene intermediate (6) (Scheme I, path d). This is a relatively rare pathway which appears to arise mainly with hydrazine and oxyamine substrate compounds in which the bonding site of R³ has a lone pair, possibily indicating a type of α -effect.

Each of the variety of intermediates possible in these reactions has its protagonsits. Metallo intermediates of type 5 have been isolated in reactions with some hydrazone substrates (Scheme VI and VII). Thus treatment of the heterocyclic hydrazone (15) with LTA in acetic acid gave the s-triazolo[4,3-a]pyridine (20) (75-83%). A comparable reaction with Hg2A in hot acetic acid (80 °C) gave compound 20 in 37% yield along with the bis(hydrazone)mercury compound (19) (55%).⁸⁹ These cyclications are an example of a general cyclization reaction with LTA²⁰ in which an intermediate of type 16 is usually postulated as a precursor to a nitrilimine (18) which undergoes 1,5-electrocyclization. In the reaction with Hg2A the intermediate 17 was isolated in quantitative yield at ambient temperatures and when this was separately heated at 80 °C in acetic acid it gave the cyclized product 20 and compound 19 in the correct proportions confirming its intermediacy.89

SCHEME VI



SCHEME VII



Metallo intermediates have not been isolated from the LTA reactions and compound 17 which had the Zconfiguration, irrespective of the configuration of the starting material, was probably stabilized by coordination of the metal by the pyridine nitrogen.⁸⁹ In these reactions the formation of the products (19) (cf. path e, Scheme III) arose by an anion exchange between two molecules of the metallo intermediate. Products of type 19 and 11 can also readily arise from an attack by a molecule of the starting nitrogen compound on the metallo intermediate and they may be formed in high yields when the mole ratio of substrate to Hg2A is 2:1. In the conversion of species 17 to 20 (Scheme VI) it is of interest that the Z structure of compound 17 changed to the E form, as monitored by ¹H NMR before the signals of the product (20) began to appear and the



nitrilimine species (18) was too short-lived to be detected.⁸⁹ The formation of a nitrilimine species in this reaction represents an example of path c, Scheme III, involving hydrogen abstraction from an adjacent site in the N-substituent. The reactions outlined in Scheme VII represent one of the few cases where treatment of a substrate (21) with either of the three reagents, LTA, TTA, or Hg2A, gave the same reaction product (22) (80–90%). The metallo compound (23) was isolated as an unstable intermediate from the Hg2A reaction.^{90,91} Evidence for a pathway involving process 24 has been presented.⁹¹

The presence of radical intermediates 27 (representing path a, Scheme III) in the oxidative cyclization of the ortho amino arylazo compounds (25) to the triazoles (30) with LTA has been proposed by Dyall⁹² (Scheme VIII). The reaction was explained in terms of a direct one-electron transfer or the N-metallo intermediate (26) undergoing homolysis to the radical (27) which may have been in equilibrium with its protonated form. Cyclization and a secondary oxidation gave rise to the products (30).⁹² The possibility that amino cations or nitrenes were involved as intermediates was ruled out by comparing the products with those formed when such species were generated separately under the same conditions as the LTA oxidation reactions.⁹² The presence of an amino cation, ArNH⁺, has been suggested in the oxidation of 2,4,6-tris(1,1-dimethylethyl)aniline from trapping reactions with acetate ion.93 Such species are also known from the solvolvsis of substituted N-chloroanilines assisted by the presence of silver TFA.94

The oxidation of secondary arylakylamines such as compound 31 gives rise to N-dealkylation accompanied by an acetoxylation of the aryl ring which occurs preferentially at the para position giving products of type 32 and 34.⁹⁵ These observations have been explained in terms of the cation radical 33 which is partitioned between nucleophilic attack at the para position and proton loss (Scheme IX).⁹⁵

When there are two hydrogens on the nitrogen atom of the species (2) loss of two molecules of acetic acid





SCHEME X



may give rise to nitrene intermediate (6) (Scheme I, path d). This occurs most strikingly in the oxidation of 1,1-disubstituted hydrazines with LTA.⁹⁶⁻¹⁰¹ Thus treatment of the substituted 1-amino-1.2.3-triazoles (35) with LTA in dichloromethane gave a nitrene intermediate (36) which rapidly lost nitrogen giving benzyne (Scheme X).^{96,97} In the absence of trapping agents biphenylene (38) was formed in high yield.⁹⁷ The reaction has been generalized as a route to a wide range of heterocyclic arynes $(37)^{97-100}$ and it is also applicable when the 1-amino-1,2,3-triazole moiety is bonded a C=N unit as for example with the substrates $(39)^{101}$ (Scheme X). The interesting diradical 1,8-dihydronaphthalene (41) was generated via the nitrene intermediate in the oxidation of compound 40 with LTA.^{102,103} In a range of oxidations nitrenes with the general structure 42 were trapped with olefins. The reactions were stereospecific giving aziridines 43 and 44 (Scheme XI), hence suggesting concerted additions with short-lived nitrenes in the reactive singlet state. $^{104-106}$ These nitrene intermediates have only been observed with LTA oxidations and the reactions of comparable substituted hydrazine systems with TTA and Hg2A do not appear to have been reported to date. A full review of the LTA oxidation of substituted hydrazines has recently been provided^{12,13} and further discussion herein is confined to cases where comparisons can be made between the reagents.



SCHEME XII



SCHEME XIII



IV. Comparative Reactions with Nitrogen Functional Groups: Synthesis and Mechanism

A. Amines

1. Aliphatic Primary Amines

Primary aliphatic amines (45) are readily dehydrogenated to nitriles by LTA in boiling benzene¹⁰⁷ (Scheme XII). The reaction consumed 2 mol of LTA and the yields of nitriles were ca. 60%. When 1 mol of LTA was used these yields were halved. The reaction is considered to involve an unstable aldimine intermeSCHEME XIV



diate (46).¹⁰⁷⁻¹¹⁰ In some cases small quantities of aldehydes were isolated as well as the nitriles and the other byproducts were N-alkylacetamides and N-alkylamides of the corresponding alkanoic acids.¹⁰⁷ Direct comparisons of the reaction of these substrates with Hg2A and TTA do not appear to be available but a comparison may be drawn with the α -ketoamine substrates 47 and 48 (Scheme XIII), both of which gave C-N bond cleavage on oxidation with LTA and Hg2A. The LTA oxidation of the α -amino ketones (47) gave the more complex mixture of products and has been explained in terms of intra- and intermolecular fragmentation of the N-metallo intermediate (47).¹¹¹ Much recent interest in the oxidations of primary aliphatic amine systems has been concerned with neighboring group participations during the oxidation process. LTA oxidation of aliphatic amines containing a 4-5 double bond gives rise to fused aziridine systems, some examples of which are shown in Scheme XIV. Nitrenium ions may be involved in these reactions but nitrene intermediates are not favored since the reactions did not parallel cases where nitrene intermediates were generated by other reliable means. The reaction of Hg2A with primary or secondary amines containing a 4-5 double bond is quite different and involves an intramolecular aminomercuration reaction giving rise to five- and six-membered nitrogen heterocycles, examples of which are shown in Scheme XV. This reaction generally involves an electrophilic Markovnikov attack of the mercury(II) species on the olefinic moiety followed by a trans attack of the nearby nucleophilic amino group, e.g. 59 (Scheme XV). The mercury product is readily demercurated by treatment with sodium borohydride. This reaction is sensitive to the nature of the mercury salt and the solvent. For example treatment of the substrate (63) with Hg2A in pyridine gave mainly the fused pyrolidine product (64, X = OAc) while the tetrahydroquinoline derivative (65, X = Cl)was the major product from the reaction with mercuric chloride in acetone. With these substrates the softer mercury(II) reagent attacks the softer olefinic nucleophile while the harder lead(IV) reagent appears to attack the harder amino nucleophile. Further examples of these reaction types are reviewed separately in ref SCHEME XV



12 and 13. Other interesting recent oxidations of primary amines include fragmentations of cyclopropylamines (Scheme XVI) and rearrangements of triarylmethylamines (Scheme XVII). Thus treatment of



either cis- or trans-2-phenylcyclopropylamine (68) with LTA in dichloromethane at -78 °C gave *trans*-cinnam-aldehyde (68) in 79–84% yields.¹²⁰ Similar oxidations of 1-phenylcyclopropylamine (70) gave benzonitrile (69%) and ethylene.¹²⁰ Treatment of triarylmethylamines (71) with LTA in benzene under reflux gave the rearranged products 73 and 74 (Scheme XVII).¹²¹ The relative migratory aptitudes for p-Y-C₆H₄ and Ph varied from 0.39 for p-NO₂ to 152 for p-MeO and a pathway (72) involving a concerted electron deficient migration of the aryl group with elimination of lead diacetate and acetate ion from an N-lead intermediate has been proposed.¹²¹ Free radical or nitrene-type intermediates were not detected in this reaction. The reaction is similar to the Hoffmann degradation of amides and is a common type of rearrangement observed in LTA oxidations. For example a similar rearrangement is observed on LTA oxidation of triarylmethanols^{122,123} and also on LTA oxidation of amides (section IVB). It arises presumably because of the high redox instability of the N-metallo intermediate and might also be expected with TTA in inert solvents. It does not occur with Hg2A for amide substrates because the N-metallo compound is stable (Section IVB).

2. Aromatic Primary Amines

Oxidation of substituted aromatic amines (75) with LTA leads to arylazo compounds (77) in varying yields.¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶ The reaction is generally considered to involve hydrazo compounds (76) as intermediates which are rapidly oxidized further (Scheme XVIII). Hydrazo compounds in general are readily oxidized to azo compounds by LTA.^{124,127,128} They could arise from aromatic amines via dimerization of anilino radicals¹²⁹ or by attack of amino cation radicals ArN⁺H₂, on the parent amine. Such cation radicals have been detected by ESR spectroscopy when solutions of aromtic amines in methylene chloride were mixed with solutions of LTA in methylene chloride-trifluoroacetic acid.¹³⁰ The reaction may take a different course when special ortho substituents are present. Thus treatment of 2,4,6-tritert-butylaniline (78) with LTA in benzene at 5 °C gave products 81-83 (Scheme XIX).¹³¹ An N-metallo intermediate (79) could account for these interesting products and it is relevant that similar products, with higher yields of ortho derivatives, are formed in the LTA oxidation of the oxygen analogue, 2.4.6-tri-tertbutylphenol.¹³² In this case the ortho-para ratio of acetoxylation was considerably higher than for methoxylation (in methanol solvent), in agreement with an intramolecular redox process of type 79. When the ortho substituent is another amino group ring, fragmentation to muco nitriles (86) occurs on oxidation with LTA (Scheme XX).^{133,134} This reaction is considered to involve a dinitrene intermediate (85) and interest-



ingly the same product (86, X = H) was obtained when compound 87 was treated with LTA.¹³⁵ These varied reactions which arise from attack by the Pb(IV) electrophile on the nitrogen atom contrast with those of Hg2A where the attack occurs at the benzene carbon atoms giving aromatic mono- and polymercurations. Thus treatment of aniline and N-alkylanilines with dilute solutions of Hg2A gave high yields of p-(acetoxymercuri)anilines (88).^{136,137} The reaction of ortho



and para toluidines with Hg2A gave high yields of mixtures arising from mono- and diacetoxymercuration at positions or ho and para to the amino group and the reaction of phenols with Hg2A also resulted in ring metallation. Compound 89 was obtained in 95% yield from the reaction of 2,6-di-tert-butylphenol with Hg2A in 75% acetic acid.¹³⁹ The formation of aromatic lead-carbon bonded species, Ar-Pb(OAc)₃, is common in the reactions of LTA with aromatic hydrocarbons¹² and the contrast in the reactions of LTA and Hg2A with aromatic amines may therefore further illustrate ambident selectivity where the softer Hg(II) electrophile attacks the softer carbon sites while the harder Pb(IV)species attacks the harder nitrogen sites. When the active ring sites are occupied as for example in the reaction of 2.4.6-trimethylaniline with Hg2A a 1:1 complex (90) has been reported¹³⁸ in which the mercury is bonded to the nitrogen atom. A 1:1 complex of Hg(II)with aniline was also detected spectrophotometrically in aqueous NaClO₄-HClO₄ solutions.¹⁴⁰

 TABLE II.
 LTA Oxidative Cyclication of

 Ortho-Substituted Aromatic Amines



Much recent interest in the oxidation of aromatic primary amines has centered around compounds of type 91 containing an unsaturated X=Y ortho substituent.



Oxidation of these substrates with LTA gives a general cyclization to products to type 92 and the generality of the reaction is illustrated by the examples listed in Table II. The reaction has been considered to involve radical or cation radical intermediates and the mechanism is discussed above for Scheme VIII. The substrates 101 (Table II) also fit the general reaction scheme although they are slightly different insofar as an exocyclic dehydrogenation is possible in this case without loss of the aromatic closed shell of the parent heterocyclic ring. The cyclization $101 \rightarrow 102$ (Table II) is an older reaction, known since the late 1940s,145 which also occurs with -OH and -SH groups ortho to the -N-CHR moiety, and its mechanism may be different from those of the others in Table II. At present these reactions appear to be exclusive to LTA and information on the behavior of these substrates with TTA and Hg2A is not readily available. However, it is of interest that ortho-substituted azobenzenes 103 react readily





with Hg2A to give a cyclometallation reaction regioselectivity at the ortho position via a mechanism involving complexation of the incoming HgOAc⁺ electrophile by the n electrons of the β -azo atom giving the products 104.^{149,150}

3. Tertiary and Secondary amines

The various reactions pathways which are possible between tertiary amines and the metallic acetate reagents have been described in section IIIB1. One of the most common involves the formation of an iminium salt of type 107 by proton loss from the α -carbon (Scheme XXI). If the β -carbon contains a proton, this may also be eliminated in the presence of base hence resulting in an overall dehydrogenation at the α - β bond of the tertiary amine (Scheme XXI). This type of reaction appears to be common to all of the reagents, but the iminium ion may possibly arise by different pathways (cf. Scheme V) and there are relatively little data on TTA reactions. Examples of such reactions with Hg2A include dehydrogenations of a wide range of 1-alkylpyrrolidines, such as compound 109, to the corre-



sponding Δ^2 -pyrrolines,¹⁵¹ and oxidations of 1,2,6-trialkylpiperidines (111) to the inimum salts (112).⁷⁶ These dehydrogenation reactions when carried out in aqueous acetic acid may also be accompanied by hydroxylations. Thus treatment of the 1-methyldecahydroquinolines (113) with 4 mol of Hg2A in 5% acetic



acid at 90 °C gave the hydroxyl derivative (114) in 54% yield,¹⁵² and oxidation of compound 115 gave a mixture of the cis and trans isomers of the hydroxy derivatives 116.¹⁵³ Oxidation of either of the isomers of compound 117 with LTA gave the iminium salt 118 and this on



treatment with base lost a proton from the β -carbon giving the product 119.^{154,155}

When one of the substituents on the tertiary nitrogen is a methyl group or an acyclic group, dealkylations are observed [cf. compound 12). Thus treatment of N-alkylhydrazone derivatives (120) with LTA resulted in dealkylation to the monosubstituted hydrazones (123) and the aldehyde of the alkyl group in a reaction involving the iminium species (122) (Scheme XXII).^{156,157} Other systems which have been demethylated with LTA include N,N-dimethylglycine,¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶⁰ a range of alkaloids containing the N-methylindolenine moiety,¹⁶¹⁻¹⁶³ and the N-dialkylanilines already discussed (Scheme V).

There is a paucity of information on the comparative reactions of the three reagents with secondary amines but reactions with LTA have been reported. With substrates containing an α -H atom the reaction involves a dehydrogenation to an imine (Scheme XXIII). Thus LTA oxidation of dibenzylamine (124) gave Nbenzylidenebenzylamine (125) along with a range of other products derived from further oxidation or cleavage of this first-formed product (Scheme XXIII)¹⁰⁷ (cf. also Scheme XLII). LTA oxidation of compound 126 and related gardneria alkaloids gives a ready deh-



ydrogenation of the secondary amine.¹⁶⁴ Similar dehydrogenations of more complex alkaloid systems have been reported and are accompanied by rearrangements and ring transformations.^{165,166} The reaction of secondary *N*-alkylanilines with LTA has already been discussed (Scheme IX) and the reaction with Hg2A involves ring mercuration giving products of type 88.

B. Amides and Hydrazides

The marked contrast in the reactions of amide substrates with the reagents further illustrates some of the principles described in section III. Hg2A forms stable



mercury(II) compounds with amides arising from displacement of one or both acetates from the Hg2A. Treatment of acetamide with Hg2A gave stable AcNH-HgOAc.^{167,168} Infrared spectra of the compound were interpreted in terms of chelate bonding of both the amido nitrogen and oxygen atoms with the mercury atom,¹⁶⁹ but the X-ray structure showed mercury-nitrogen bonding in the solid state,¹⁷⁰ with chains formed via hydrogen bonding as in structure 128 (Scheme XXIV). In contrast, the reaction of amides with LTA involves a 1,2-C \rightarrow N shift similar to the Hofmann rearrangement giving isocyanates 131 (Scheme XXIV).^{171,172} The amide carbonyl substitutent R migrates with retention of configuration¹⁷¹ and the reaction may involve an unstable intermediate (129), with a labile N-Pb(IV) bond, which undergoes a rapid redox process (130) generating an electron-deficient nitrogen with concomitant migration of the amide substituent (Scheme XXIV). The isocyanate products (131) are readily isolated in aprotic solvents.^{171,172} The reaction, when carried out in benzene containing alcohol or in alcohol alone, provides an efficient route to good yields of N-substituted carbonic acid esters (132).¹⁷² Good yields of substituted ureas (133) may be obtained from this reaction in dimethylformamide containing primary amines,¹⁷¹ and when the reaction was carried out in benzene containing a carboxylic acid the main products were the acylamines (134) (30-70%) along with lesser yields of ureas (135) (5-12%).¹⁷²

A similar comparative reactivity is evident with cyclic amides and is illustrated by the behavior of the related amide triazinone substrates 136 and 138. Treatment of compound 136 with Hg2A in acetic acid gave a quantitative yield of the stable bis(triazinone)mercury derivative (137).¹⁷³ In contrast treatment of compound 138 with LTA in boiling benzene gave 86% yield of the ring-contracted benzotriazole (139).¹⁷⁴ This could arise via an initial 1,2-N \rightarrow N rearrangement of an amido N-Pb(IV) intermediate with involvement of acetate ion or acetic acid followed a 1,4-O \rightarrow N acetyl migration in a species of type 138A.



Oxidation of N-methyl hydrazides of type 140 with LTA gives rise to 1,3-dipoles of the general type 144



which readily dimerize to tetrazines 145.¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁷ Oxidation of the hydrazide (140) with LTA in dichloromethane at 25 °C gave the intermediate dipole (141) which was readily trapped with styrene giving compound 142. In contrast treatment of compound 140 with mercuric oxide gave the bis(hydrazido)mercury compound 143.¹⁷⁸ Subsequent heating of this mercury compound at 135 °C resulted in oxidative degradation to the dipolar species 141 (Scheme XXV).

Intramolecular cyclizations of amides containing an adjacent functional group are common in LTA oxidations. Oxidation of β -hydroxy primary amides (146) in



pyridine gave high yields (>70%) of the 2-oxazolidinones (147).¹⁷⁹ LTA oxidation of ortho-substituted aromatic amides gave a range of bicyclic dioxoazines. Thus treatment of phthalamic acid, 2-carbamoylnicotinic acid, phthalamide, and pyridine-2,3-dicarboxamide with LTA in benzene gave compounds 148-151, respectively,¹⁸⁰ and the reaction has also been used as a route to dihydrouracils from acyclic diamide substrates.^{180,180a} These reactions involve Hofmann-



type rearrangements to isocyanate intermediates. An interesting cyclization of the amide (152) to the quinazolinone (153) by Hg(II)-EDTA oxidation has recently been reported.¹⁸¹ An oxidation of haloacet-



amides, e.g. $Cl-CH_2CONH_2$, with Tl(III) in aqueous perchlorate medium has also been reported recently.¹⁸² The reaction involved a degradation and the products were the corresponding halomethanol, ammonia, and carbon dioxide.¹⁸²

C. Nitrogen Chains: Hydrazines, Triazenes, and Tetrazenes

1. Hydrazines

Oxidation of mono- or 1,2-disubstituted hydrazines with LTA involves a dehydrogenation of the -- NH--NH— unit generating an azo group, -N=N-. This reaction has been widely used in synthesis with LTA as oxidant, but there are relatively few reports of the employment of TTA and Hg2A for the same purpose although they should be expected to work readily because of the low oxidation threshold of the NH-NH unit. Thus LTA oxidation of arylhydrazines (154) involves a dehydrogenation of aryldiimides (155) which leads ultimately to aryl diazonium ions at low temperatures and aryl radicals at ambient temperatures (Scheme XXVI).^{183,184} A kinetic study of the oxidation of some substituted phenylhydrazines with Tl(III) in acid chloride medium has recently been reported.¹⁸⁵ The reaction was considered to involve an initial complexation of Tl(III) with the hydrazine, and ortho nitro substituents are reported to have a rate-enhancing effect due to chelation.

The numerous examples of LTA dehydrogenations of 1,2-disubstituted hydrazines to both acyclic and cyclic azo compounds have been extensively reviewed recently^{12,13,19} and repetition herein is unnecessary. The ene-hydrazine system (158) represents a case where a dehydrogenation is readily effected by LTA or Hg2A giving the stable conjugated azo compounds $(159)^{186}$ (Scheme XXVII). These compounds (159) contain a trans olefinic linkage unfavorable for a cyclization of the conjugated azo system. When dihydrazones of acyclic 1,3-diones such as 160 are oxidized, the reaction again occurs via the ene-hydrazine forms (161). These are easily dehydrogenated with LTA or Hg2A to the reactive cis-conjugated azo olefins (162) which cyclize in situ to the pyrazoles (164), probably via an intermediate of type 163¹⁸⁶ (Scheme XXVII). When the tautomerism to the reactive ene-hydrazine form of the 1,3-dihydrazone is prevented as in the substrates 160 $(R^1, R^2 \neq H)$, the products of LTA oxidation are the azopyrazolines 165, ^{187,188} and oxidation by Hg2A will not occur unless forcing conditions are employed causing decompositions. An interesting parallel is observed in the oxidation of the 1,2-dihydrazones 166 which are readily dehydrogenated to bis(azo) compounds 167 by a variety of oxidizing agents, including LTA and TTA.^{189,190} The compounds (167) are structurally related to the derivatives 162. They also undergo ready cyclizations and in fact they exist in equilibrium with the cyclic form (168) (comparable to structure 163).



Both forms have recently¹⁸⁹ been detected in equilibrium for compound 167, Ar=p-NO₂C₆H₄.¹⁸⁹ These conjugated aza olefinic systems 162 and 167 represent interesting potential nitrogen analogues of the 6π -electrocyclizations common in 1,3,5-hexatriene systems. They contain terminal sp² nitrogen atoms in place of sp² carbons. However, their cyclizations are not electrocyclizations but 5-exo trig type reactions dominated by the nucleophilic nitrogen n-electrons. Compunds of type 167 and 168 are highly sensitive to acetic acid and they rapidly undergo rearrangements to *o*-cyclohexylaniline derivatives in the presence of acid, and hence LTA or TTA oxidations are not useful for their isolation.¹⁸⁹

There is a paucity of comparative data on oxidations of 1,1-disubstituted hydrazines with the three reagents despite the fact that extensive work has been reported on LTA oxidations of such substrates. This LTA work has recently been reviewed in detail^{12,13} and the general reaction is discussed above (section IIIB2). Many of these LTA oxidations are considered to involve interesting nitrene intermediates which often give rise to useful ring-expansion reactions. Some further recent examples are shown in Scheme XXVIII involving conversion of N-aminodiazoles to triazines.

2. Triazenes and Tetrazenes

The relative stability of the mercury(II)-nitrogen and Pb(IV)-nitrogen bond is also illustrated in the reactions of triazenes (diazoamino compounds) with the reagents. Treatment of symmetrical 1,3-diaryltriazenes 169 with



Hg2A in ethanol gave stable bis(triazeno)mercuric compounds 170.¹⁹³ These mercuric derivatives may also be obtained by generating the triazene in situ by diazotization of primary aromatic amines with isoamyl nitrite in the presence of Hg2A.^{194,195} Stable triazenes with nitrogen-mercury bonds of the type Ar—N=N-N(HgPh)—Ar are well-known.^{196,197} In solution the Ph-Hg group undergoes a rapid exchange between the 1- and 3-nitrogen atoms.^{196,197}



The reaction of LTA with 1,3-diaryltriazenes is more complicated and may give mixtures of products. With monosubstituted benzenes as solvents the products were azo compounds (173) and biaryls (174) derived from the solvent.¹⁹⁸ The isomeric ratios of the biaryls showed that they were formed from aryl radicals and a rapid homolysis of the species (171) seems likely. The ESR spectrum of the reaction mixture of 1,3-diphenyltriazene with LTA exhibited a triplet with coupling constant 10 G which could be due to a triazenyl radical



SCHEME XXVIII





 $(172)^{198}$ (Scheme XXIX). In some cases the reaction of 1,3-diaryltriazenes with LTA may give good yields of hexaaza-1,5-dienes, e.g., compound 175, which could arise from dimerization of the radicals (172) or from attack by the parent molecule on the Pb(IV) intermediate (171).¹⁹⁹ These reactions reflect the lability of the N-Pb(IV) bond in the triazene system (171). The corresponding reactions with TTA do not appear to be reported but the triazenyl-type thallium(III) derivatives (176) have recently been obtained from the reactions



of thallium (III) acetate–(trimethylsilyl azide with olefins. $^{\rm 200}$

There is little information on the reactions of tetrazenes with the three reagents except for LTA. OxiSCHEME XXIX



dation of 1,1-dibenzylhydrazine (177) with LTA gave the tetrazene (178).²⁰¹⁻²⁰³ The methylene groups of this were rapidly acetoxylated by further in situ LTA attack resulting in cleavage to benzyl azide, benzaldehyde, and dibenzylamine (Scheme XXX).²⁰¹⁻²⁰³ Small quantities of the unique cyclic tetrazene 179 were also obtained from the separate LTA oxidation of tetrazene 178.²⁰²

D. Heteroallylic Systems: >C=X-Z-

1. Enamines

The reaction of enamines containing a tertiary nitrogen with TTA^{204} or LTA^{205} gives rise to α -acetoxy ketones 180 in varying proportions. The TTA reaction



is cleaner and of more synthetic value. The LTA reaction gives complicated mixtures in which products of type 180 may be minor components. Thus cycloalkanone enamines of type 181 gave high yields of the α -acetoxy ketone (182) on treatment with TTA in acetic acid.²⁰⁴ The α -methoxy derivative (183) was obtained when TTN in methanol was used.²⁰⁶ Oxidation of the substrates (181) with LTA in benzene²⁰⁵ gave the complicated mixture of products shown (Scheme XXXI). The essential mechanistic differences between these reactions is not well established and strong evidence for the initial sites of attack and the nature of the metallo intermediates is not available. Kuehne and Giacobbe²⁰⁴ have established that in acetic acid the enamine exists in the iminium salt form 184 which adds TTA to give SCHEME XXXI^a



SCHEME XXXII



species 185. The oxidation however occurred through a slow equilibrium back to the free enamine and thallic cation (Scheme XXXII) and was envisaged in terms of the key intermediate 186 containing a carbon-thallium bond. An intramolecular displacement of thallium by its ligand bonded at the α -carbon (or by the nitrogen atom) in species 187 was postulated to give rise to the iminium salt (188), the precursor to the α -acetoxy ketone products (Scheme XXXII).²⁰⁴ In the Pb(IV) oxidation the diacetoxyl derivative (189) was postulated



as the key intermediate.²⁰⁵ None of the data presented would appear to exclude mechanism **190** as a competitive route to the α -acetoxy ketones and the strong steric effects and preference for axial acetoxylation reported would be compatible with it. The route to α -substituted cycloalkanones has been effectively extended to aryl derivatives such as compound **191** by using using aryllead(IV) tricarboxylates as oxidants.²⁰⁷



The reaction of Hg2A with tertiary enamines is also reported to give β -acetoxyiminium salts,⁷⁸ but these reactions usually need to be carried out in boiling solvents and overoxidation and decompositions are the main features of the relatively sparse reports. Recently the enamines 192 were treated with Hg2A in acetonitrile under reflux and the products were the *m*-aminophenols 193.²⁰⁸



Some interesting oxidation reactions have been reported for enamines containing a secondary nitrogen atom. For example, the enamide compound 194 underwent a β -acetoxylation when treated with LTA in benzene giving the product 195.209,210 In acetic acid this rearranged to the enamide form 196 and when this was further treated with LTA β -acetoxylation again occurred giving the product 197 (Scheme XXXIII).^{209,210} LTA oxidation of N-alkyl- and N-arylenamines of type 198 gave rise to mixtures of dimeric products (Scheme XXXIV).^{62,211,212} Evidence has been presented in favor of initial dimerization via an activated N-Pb(IV) intermediate (199).^{62,211} A C-Pb(IV) intermediate has also been postulated as the active species.^{211b} Interesting bicyclic structures also arose from further attack of species 199 on the pyrroles 202 and attempts to trap 1,3-dipoles which could have arisen from a 1,3-dehydrogenation of the substrates 198 proved negative.⁶² Such a pathway is common with other heteroallylic systems such as aldehyde hydrazone and oxime derivatives. In contrast to the LTA reactions treatment of acyclic enamides (203) with TTA in methanol gave a



diastereomeric mixture of α,β -dimethoxy derivatives²¹² (cf. also Scheme XLIII). Oxidation of the enamides **204** with TTN in methanol gave a ring expansion which is

TABLE III. Comparative Kinetic Data for Reactions of Substituted Phenylhydrazones with Metallic Acetates in Acetic Acid

	relative	Hammet	ρ values	ΔH_{min}	ΔE	Δ.S
oxidant	rates ^a	c-phenyl	N-phenyl	K·cal·mol ⁻¹	K·cal·mol ⁻¹	$cal \cdot K^{-1} \cdot mol^{-1}$
LTA	1 ^{<i>a</i>}	$-0.6(\sigma^n)^{d,e}$	-1.95	g	g	g
TTA^b	1×10^{-2}	$-1.05(\sigma^{+})^{d}$	-3.6	17.2	17.9	-14.6
Hg2A ^c	1×10^{-3}	$-1.02(\sigma^{+})^{d}$	-2.99	16.9	17.5	-14.1

^aApproximate values. ^bAll data in HOAc at 25 °C from ref 214a. ^cAll data in HOAc at 25 °C from ref 73. ^dFor correlation with substituent constants indicated in parentheses. ^eFrom ref 219. ^fFrom ref 63. ^gNot reported.

SCHEME XXXIII



explained in terms of a Tl(III) attack at the β -olefinic carbon.²¹³



2. Hydrazones

a. N-Substituted Hydrazones. Substituted phenylhydrazones (205) represent a class of substrate where comparative data are available for the three reagents. When treated with LTA in anhydrous acetic acid, ketone hydrazones (205, $R \neq H$) gave the azo acetates⁶³ (207). A similar reaction with TTA gave the same products (207) along with small quantities of the osazones (210),^{214a} while with Hg2A as oxidant the compounds 210 were the main products.^{214b} Oxidation of aldehyde hydrazones (205, R = H) with LTA and TTA in acetic acid gave the diacylhydrazines (208), while the reaction with Hg2A gave almost quantitative yields of ortho acetoxymercuri derivatives (8)^{73,215} (Scheme XXXV). Comparative kinetic data for the three reactions are summarized in Table III. The relative rates are described as approximaate because the LTA data were measured under conditions slightly different to the others. The reactions are related by the key N-metallo intermediates (206) (Scheme XXXV). When the metal is Pb(IV), this intermediate is highly reactive and undergoes an intramolecular redox with an acetoxy mi-

SCHEME XXXIV



gration to the methine carbon giving the products $\bar{2}07.63,64$ This occurs readily in solvents such as CH_2Cl_2 -Et₃N, where external acetic acid is not present.²¹⁴ When the metal is Tl(III), the N-metallo intermediate is longer lived and the azo acetates (207) are formed by solvent attack at the methine carbon.²¹⁴ Thus the azo acetates are not formed from the Tl(III) reaction in dichloromethane-triethylamine where external acetic acid is not available and with TTN in methanol the products are azo methyl ethers (207, Me for Ac) derived from methanol solvent involvement.⁶⁶ When the metal is Hg(II) the N-mercuri compound is stable and does not proceed further (and can be isolated).⁷³ In this case a competitive attack at the methine imino nitrogen (209) takes over. Mercury migration to the adjacent alkyl group R activates this group generating a carbocation which, after involvement of another molecule of starting hydrazone, ultimately gives rise to the osazones (210) (thereby providing a simple one-pot preparation of such derivatives without the difficulty of synthesizing a reactive α -keto aldehyde).²¹⁴ When the original substrate was an aldehyde hydrazone, the mercury migrated instead to the ortho position of the N-phenyl ring giving the products 8 (Scheme XXXV).⁷³ The important controlling factors in the overall sequence are the relative magnitudes of the rate constants k_2 , k_{-1} , and k_3 (Scheme XXXV).²¹⁴ For Pb(IV) $k_2 \gg k_{-1}$ and the reaction proceeds rapidly. With aldehyde hydrazones a rapid dehydrogenation occurs giving a nitrilimine, $Ar - C \equiv N^+ - N^- - Ar$, LDA, and HOAc. Addition of acetic acid to the nitrilimine gives the products 208. For Tl(III) k_2 is still faster than k_{-1} but significantly less than k_2 for Pb(IV).²¹⁴ Hence the N-thallium intermediate is sufficiently long-lived for involvement with external nucleophiles and a small

SCHEME XXXV



SCHEME XXXVI



amount of competition from k_3 is also evident. The products 208 in this case are formed by solvent attack at the methine carbon followed by tautomerism in 207 (R = H) and a 1,4-O \rightarrow N acetyl migration (Scheme XXXV). For Hg(II) $k_{-1} \gg k_2$; hence k_3 dominates the reaction and the reactions of Hg₂A with hydrazones differ dramatically from those of LTA. This will always be the case as long as k_{-1} is much greater than k_2 (Scheme XXXV) and there is an alternative pathway (k_3) available. Thus Hg2A fails to oxidize hydrazone substrates and remains in the Hg(II) state. One of the most common patterns observed in the reactions of Hg(II) with hydrazone substrates is outlined in Scheme XXXVI. Semicarbazones (211) are rapidly cyclized to oxadiazoles (214) on brief treatment with LTA at room temperature.²¹⁶ This is an example of the general LTA cyclization of N-acyl aldehyde hydrazones^{217,218} and heterocyclic hydrazones^{20,219} which is widely used in synthesis.²⁰ It is generally considered to involve a nitrilimine intermediate of type 213 which can undergo a 1,5-electrocyclization or a 5-endo dig type process. Such cyclizations of semicarbazones are not observed with Hg2A (or TTA) and the products from Hg2A are the bis(hydrazono)mercuri derivatives (215),²²⁰ the formation of which represents k_3 , i.e., an alternative pathway by which mercury can remain as mercury(II).

When structural constraints are imposed to reduce the value of k_{-1} relative to k_2 (Scheme XXXV), then Hg2A may give similar reactions to LTA. Such is the case with hydrazones of 2-pyridylcarboxaldehyde where the intermediate 17 (cf. Scheme VI) is stabilized by extra coordination of the Hg(II). In acetic acid solution the mercurihydrazone (216) rapidly cleaved to parent



hydrazone and Hg2A,⁷³ but compound 17 was stable in acetic acid at ambient temperatures,⁸⁹ thus confirming that k_{-1} is much larger for species 216 than for 17. Compound 17 is the only reported case to date where Hg2A effects a dehydrogenative cyclization of a substituted hydrazone giving, on heating, the product 20 (Scheme VI) and that only as a minor product since the

main reaction gives compound 19 (Scheme VI).⁸⁹ The marked divergence between the reaction products for Hg(II) and the other reagents contrasts with the close similarity between the kinetics of Hg(II) and Tl(III) reactions (Table III). However, these kinetic similarities are deceptive and we believe they arise from a significant but different involvement of the metal with imino group in the slow step in both cases. In the Tl(III) case a transition state (217) involves the imino π -electrons



whereas in the Hg(II) case the imino n-electrons as in structure 218 are involved. Each interaction is dominated by delocalization of positive charge into the methine aryl ring and the kinetics could not distinguish between these close situations but the subsequent course of the reaction does.

One of the consequences of the different mechanisms is that TTA emerges as unique among the three reagents for regenerating aldehydes from (tolylsulfonyl)hydrazones (219) and semicarbazones (220). Ketones are easily regenerated from (tolylsulfonyl)hydrazones with LTA²²¹ because the azo acetate products are readily hydrolyzed. However LTA will not regenerate aldehydes from hydrazones since these are rapidly dehydrogenated to nitrilimines (222) in an internal redox (221) (Scheme XXXVII, path a).²²² With TTA however the redox is intermolecular involving solvent giving a diacetyl acetal species (223) when X is a good leaving group. Hence aldehydes are regenerated by TTA from compounds 219 and 220.^{222,223} The comparisons described herein apply to reactions carried out in pure acetic acid or in organic solvents. The thallium(III) reactions appear to be particularly sensitive to solvent and oxidation of substituted benzaldehyde phenylhydrazones with TTA in acetic acid-water mixtures containing added chloride ion, which complexed with Tl(III) are reported to give monophenylhydrazones of benzil in a reaction involving a hydrazone dimerization which may be free radical in character.²²⁴

Formazans (225) are readily oxidized by $LTA^{225-229}$ and TTA^{230} to tetrazolium salts (227). The mechanism is probably similar in both cases. A recent kinetic



study of the thallium(III) reaction supports an intramolecular cyclization in the N-Tl(III) intermediate

SCHEME XXXVII



(226).²³⁰ A similar reaction is the LTA oxidation of hydrazone derivatives of 2-acylpyridines (228) to 8-



azaindazolium salts (229).²³¹ This cyclization works readily for both the E and Z forms of the hydrazones (228),²³² although it was reported earlier²³¹ that only the Z form of the hydrazone was cyclized.

The reaction of 1,2-bis((*p*-tolylsulfonyl)hydrazones) (Scheme VII) represents a case where the reagents behaved similarly because of the high reactivity and leaving ability of the N-substituent. Bis((arylsulfonyl)hydrazones) of 1,4-dicarbonyl compounds (230)



also behaved similarly with LTA and Hg2A giving an interesting fragmentation to phthalazine (231).²³³ Oxidation of the o-carboxaldehyde N-arylhydrazones (232) with Hg2A occurred at the site of lowest oxidation threshold, the aldehyde group giving the products 233 which cyclized in acetic acid.²³³ In the LTA oxidation of compounds 232 the hydrazone chain was also attacked giving the products 234.²³³ The extensive reactions of the wide variety of substituted hydrazone types of LTA, which have been comprehensively reviewed elsewhere,^{12,13,20} have not yet been extended to TTA. Many interesting reactions can be expected from Tl(III) in this area.



b. N-Unsubstituted Hydrazones. LTA oxidation of unsubstituted hydrazones 236 gives a dehydrogenation to diazoalkanes 237.^{234,235} The isolation of the compounds (237) depended on their stability, and when the substituents R^1 and R^2 were both CF_3 ,^{236,237} CN,²³⁸ or benzenesulfonyl groups,²³⁹ the diazo compounds were stable. The diazo products (237) may react further



with LTA to give gem-diacetoxy compounds 239 and in acetic acid they are converted to monoacetoxylalkanes 238.^{234,235} Methyl phenyldiazoacetate²⁴⁰ and α -aryl- and α -cyanodiazoacetic esters²⁴¹ have also been obtained as stable products from the oxidation of the corresponding hydrazones with LTA. Similarly the α -diazo ketones (241) were obtained from mercuric



oxide oxidation of the α -carbonylhydrazones (240).²⁴² Further treatment of the compounds (241) with mercuric oxide gave bis(diazo)mercury derivatives 242.²⁴² The reported reactions²⁴³⁻²⁴⁵ of unsubstituted hydrazones with Hg2A gave more complicated products which are generally mercuri derivatives not containing nitrogen. Thus oxidation of benzophenone or benzaldehyde hydrazones (243) with Hg2A in benzene gave



the products 244 which reverted to the original carbonyl compound on standing or on treatment with base.²⁴³ In general this reaction with dry benzene as solvent resulted in the introduction of OAc and HgOAc groups



bonded to the methine carbon with loss of the nitrogen of the hydrazone chain,²⁴³ probably via a diazo precursor. In the presence of water and halide ions more complicated dimeric products have been reported (Scheme XXXVIII).^{244,245}

In oxidation of hydrazones derived from cycloalkanes with LTA olefins may also be formed most likely via carbocations, R_2CH^+ , generated from protonation of precursory diazo intermediates.²⁴⁵ This also occurs in Hg2A oxidations and for example treatment of cyclohexanone hydrazone with Hg2A at 90 °C in an aqueous solution containing a small amount of copper(II) gave 1-acetoxymercuri-1-cyclohexene.²⁴⁴

3. Oximes

The reactions of oximes (245) with LTA and TTA seem to broadly parallel those of hydrazones with the added complexity that there are a number competing pathways operating. The reaction with LTA has been extensively studied and found to vary with (i) structure of the oxime, (ii) ratio of LTA to substrate, (iii) temperature, (iv) solvent, and (v) interference by autoxidation reactions and nitric oxide. When the reaction was carred at 70 °C in a number of solvents, a wide range of oxime types fragmented to regenerate the carbonyl compound in good yields.²⁴⁷ TTN in methanol has also been recommended for efficient regeneration of carbonyl compounds from oximes when the products of the oxidation are treated with dilute sulfuric acid.⁶⁶ The overall reaction with LTA can be represented by the coherent sequence of competitive reactions outlined in Scheme XXXIX. The key intermediate is the Ometallo species (246). This may react by path b (Scheme XXXIX) to give the gem-nitrosoacetates (247). These products were isolated from aliphatic⁶⁸ and alicyclic ketoximes²⁴⁸⁻²⁵¹ and also from aliphatic antialdoximes where they dimerized to the compounds 248.^{248,251,252} At low temperatures species 246 from syn-aldoximes reacted by path a (Scheme XXXIX) giving nitrile oxide intermediates (249)^{252,253} in a reaction analogous to the nitrilimine formation with aldehyde hydrazones. A competitive homolysis in species 246 also gives rise to iminoxy radicals 250 which have been directly detected by ESR spectroscopy.^{254,25} No fewer than five different types of nitroxide radicals have

SCHEME XXXIX



been identified in oxime-LTA systems.^{250,258,259} These radicals arise from secondary reactions which occur after the initial LTA attack.²⁰ The iminoxy radicals may also dimerize to products of type **251**. With some substrates, including oximes of aromatic aldehydes at 0–5 °C, these may become the major products in yields of up to 50%.^{249,252,260}

The reactions of oximes with TTA may also involve an intermediate of type 252.⁶⁶ The related compound 253 has been prepared by treatment of oximes with trimethylthallium.⁶⁶ As with substituted hydrazones,



the Tl(III) redox process appears to be intermolecular involving nucleophilic solvent molecules giving rise to hydroxy nitroso compounds 254 in aqueous environments, which are the precursors to the regenerated carbonyl compounds.^{66,67,261,262} Iminoxyl radicals have also been detected in oxime-Tl(III) systems.^{66,261,262} Thus benzophenone oxime with TTN in benzene showed the ESR spectrum of the iminoxy radical,⁶⁶ and kinetic studies^{261,262} of TTA-oxime reactions have been interpreted in terms of consecutive one-electron oxidations in an outer-sphere Tl(III)-oxime complex giving iminoxy radicals which were further oxidized. A mechanism of type 255 involving solvent attack on an activated Tl(III) complex has also been suggested⁶⁷ from kinetic studies. The products (254) were found to complex with further Tl(III), thereby inhibiting the carbonyl regeneration.67

SCHEME XL



E. Other Functional Groups

1. Isocyanides

The isocyanide group has a low oxidation threshold and like other such functional groups its reactions with the three reagents are the same (Scheme XL).⁷⁰ Thus treatment of isocyanides 256 with either LTA, TTA, or Hg2A at 5–10 °C in acetic acid or benzene-acetic acid mixtures gave good yields of isocyanates 259.⁷⁰ The reaction is a two-electron oxidation probably involving the reactive intermediates 257 and 258 (Scheme XL). While the C-metallo intermediates have not been directly detected, the presence of a carbon-metal bond is supported by the formation of the unusual compounds 260 in the reaction of Hg2A with aromatic iso-



cyanides in dry tetrahydrofuran.²⁶³ A range of these

SCHEME XLI



SCHEME XLII



interesting new organomercury compounds has been reported²⁶³ along with X-ray crystal structures. The reactions of Hg(II) and Tl(III) with isocyanides in the presence of amines or alcohols have proved useful for the synthesis of carbamates⁷⁰ (261) and ureas (262)^{264,265} (Scheme XLI). Treatment of isocyanide-mercuric chloride complexes 263 with excess quantities of primary amines gave the guanidinium salts 264, while the reaction with a 1 M quantity of the primary amine in the presence of Et₃N gave carbodiimides.²⁶⁴ The route to the product (262) was unique to Hg2A and with TTA or LTA as oxidant no ureas or guanidines were formed.²⁶⁴

2. Imines and Schiff Bases

LTA oxidation of aromatic Schiff bases (benzylideneanilines) (265) resulted in fragmentation to the parent aldehyde, a substituted azobenzene, and small quantities of the parent amines.²⁶⁶ The mechanism has been



explained in terms of an electrophilic attack on the nitrogen atom giving species 266 which fragments to the aldehyde and a nitrene.²⁶⁶ LTA oxidation of *N*benzylidenebenzylamine (267) resulted in fragmentation to benzaldehyde and benzonitrile as well as an α -acetoxylation giving compound 268.¹⁰⁷ Species 269 (Scheme XLII) was considered to be the key intermediate.¹⁰⁷ This could give benzaldehyde by acetolysis of PhCH(OAc)₂ and benzonitrile by fragmentation to PhCH₂-NH-Pb(OAc)₃ followed by further oxidation.¹⁰⁷ Oxidation of the tautomeric imines 270 with TTN in methanol gave, after aqueous workup, α -methoxy keSCHEME XLIII



tones 271 and α -diketones 272 as main products and in some cases small quantities of esters 273 (Scheme XLIII).²⁶⁷ The N-Tl(III) intermediate 274 was considered to be a precursor to the products 271 and 272, while a competitive pathway involving oxymetallation of the >C==C< of the enamine form, giving species 275 followed by an oxidative rearrangement and solvolysis, was the proposed route to compounds 273.²⁶⁷ Such an oxidative rearrangement to carboxylic acid derivatives was the main reaction of TTN in methanol with the corresponding ketones.²⁸⁸

Oxidative cyclizations of ortho-substituted N-aryl Schiff bases (101) with LTA have already been referred to (Table II, ref 145–148). Other interesting recent cyclizations of imine-type systems with LTA include the substituted amidines 276^{269} and the amidoxime derivatives 278^{270} and $280.^{271}$



3. General

The individual reactions of LTA with a number of other nitrogen functional groups including hydroxylamines, substituted oxyamines, and nitrones have been reported elsewhere.^{12,13,19,20}

F. Cyclic Nitrogen Compounds

1. Azoles and Five-Membered Rings

The contrast in the reactions of LTA, TTA, and Hg2A with azole and azoline systems also illustrates some of the principles described in section III. For example oxidation of the 2-pyrazolin-5-ones 282 with Pb(IV) and Tl(III) occurred via the reactive enamine

SCHEME XLIV



form (283) (Scheme XLIV). The LTA reaction appeared to occur preferentially on the nitrogen atoms and gave a dehydrogenation to the well-known dienophiles (284).²⁷²⁻²⁷⁴ The parent 1-pyrazolin-3-one (284, $R = R^1 = H$) has been isolated at low temperatures from LTA oxidation of the corresponding pyrazolidin-3-one.²⁷⁵ Generally, however, compounds of type 284 are unstable and are generated in situ for cycloaddition reactions with dienophiles. Oxidation of the substrates 283 with TTN in methanol involved initial Tl(III) attack at the olefinic center giving a species of type 285 (Scheme XLIV).^{276,277} This was subsequently oxidized to the azo form followed by a solvolytic degradation giving substituted acetylenes (286) in contrast to the products from the LTA reaction.^{276,277} The LTA oxidation of the 1H-2-pyrazolines (287) paralleled that of



acyclic ketone hydrazones giving the 3-acetoxy derivatives (288) which are the cyclic analogues of the azo acetates (207).²⁷⁸ A wide range of substituted pyrazolines has been oxidized with LTA.²⁰ The products depended on the substituent pattern in the ring and were generally either acetoxy derivatives or aromatized pyrazoles.²⁰

The reactions of Hg2A with azole systems are essentially electrophilic aromatic substitution reactions. These may occur at an NH site or a CH site or at both. For example the reaction of pyrazole substrates with mercuric salts in aqueous media gives products of type 289 and 290.²⁷⁹ Many of these mercuric azoles are not



well characterized due to difficulties arising from complexation and coordination polymerization as in structure **291**.²⁸⁰ Treatment of pyrrole with Hg2A gave 2,3,4,5-tetrakis(acetoxymercuri)pyrrole.²⁸¹ The reaction of Hg2A with indole in aqueous or ethanolic media gave a bis(acetoxymercuri)indole,^{282,283} which as the structure **292**,²⁸⁴ although a 2,3-disubstituted structure was ori-



ginally proposed. Oxidation of the substituted indoles (293) with TTA gave the dimeric products (294).²⁸⁵ LTA oxidation of the indole-type substrates (295) gave the acetoxy derivatives (296) which were oxidized further to the pyridinium compounds (297).²⁸⁶ On



treatment of 1-*N*-methylindazole with Hg2A mercuration occurred at the 3-position of the pyrazole unit giving 3-acetoxymercuri-1-*N*-methylindazole.²⁸⁷ The reaction of substituted purines with Hg2A in water or acetic acid gave bis(imidazolo) mercurials of type **298**.²⁸⁸



Complexes of imidazole with methyl mercury (Me-Hg-) have recently been fully characterized.²⁸⁹ Complexes **299** and **300** have been reported²⁷⁹ from the reactions of benzotriazole and 1,2,4-triazole with mercuric chloride. Cleavage of the triazole ring 1,2,3-triazolo[1,5a]pyridine (**301**) occurred on treatment with Hg2A



giving the acetoxymercuri product (302).²⁹⁰ Even the deactivated tetrazole ring undergoes ready C-mercuration with Hg2A. The tetrazole derivative 303 on



treatment with Hg2A in water gave the ring mercurated product **304** interestingly without interference at the imine moiety.²⁹¹ N-unsubstituted tetrazoles, RCN₄H, are nitrogen analogues of the carboxylic acids (RCO₂H) and should form stable salts, $M(OAc)_{n-1}(RCN_4)$, with the reagents in which an acetate group is displaced. We have observed this behavior with LTA and 5-aryltetrazoles which are therefore unreactive to the reagent under normal conditions.²⁹² However, if the tetrazole 5-substitutent contains a labile H atom allowing for a dehydrogenation to a tetraazafulvene, intermediate destruction of the tetrazole ring may ensue as in the LTA oxidation of the substrates **305** which gives high yield of isocyanides.²⁹³



Some sulfur-nitrogen heterocycles which have been treated with Hg2A to give ring mercuration include the 2,4-disubstituted thiazoles 307 which gave the products



 $308^{294,295}$ and the imidazolobenzothiazoles 309 which gave the products $310.^{296}$

2. Azines and Six-Membered Rings

Azine heterocycles do L-prolyl-L-proline possess NH bonds and their reactions with the reagents may not directly involve the nitrogen atom. The few reactions which are reported are again of the aromatic substitution type which is outside the scope of this review. For example pyrimidine nucleosides reacted with Hg2A in aqueous solution at 50–70 °C to give C-5 mercurated pyrimidine derivatives.²⁹⁷ Mercuration of quinoline N-oxide in acetic acid or perchloric acid occurred mainly at the 8-position and to a lesser extent at the 3-, 5-, 6-, and 7-positions.²⁹⁸ N-Monosubstituted 2,4-dihydroxypyrimidines (uracils) interestingly gave three different kinds of products when treated with mercuric salts.²⁹⁹ Crystalline products, involving coordination of the neutral ligand to the carbonyl oxygen (311), where obtained by using aqueous solutions of HgCl₂ at pH 4.2



at room temperature. Electrophilic substitution at C-5, giving compounds of type **312**, occurred on treatment of uracil and uridine with Hg2A in aqueous solutions at pH 5 at 50–70 °C.²⁹⁹ At pH 7–9 the 3-N-mercurated products **313** were formed with uridine and thymidine and these were labile at lower pH values as expected for systems containing a Hg–N bond.²⁹⁹ These systems provide models for some of the toxic effects associated with mercuric derivatives, e.g., destruction of the DNA regeneration system. Thus at pH 7–9 the reaction of mercury(II) or alkylmercury(II) with native DNA may involve mercury substitution of the important 3-N proton of the thymidine unit (hydrogen bonded to adenosine on the double helix).

LTA oxidation of *L*-propyl-*L*-proline anhydride (314) in benzene gave the diacetoxyl derivative (315).³⁰⁰ In a related reaction the substituted piperazinedione **316**



gave a mixture of the products 317 and 318 on treatment with LTA in benzene.³⁰¹ These reactions probably involve attack on the enol or enamine functions in the tautomeric enol forms of the substrates. Some further examples of reactions with six-membered nitrogen rings have been referred to above including compounds 7, 136, and 138.

3. General

Although discussion of the variety of complexes of these metals which may contain a nitrogen donor atom is outside the scope of this review, mention is made here of some particularly interesting porphyrin derivatives, recently reported, in which the reagents are involved. The "double-sandwich" mercury(II) porphyrin derivatives 320 were obtained on treatment of etioporphyrins 319 with Hg2A in tetrahydrofuran and methylene chloride.³⁰² Normal 1:1 complexes were observed when pyridine was used as solvent.³⁰³ When the methine bridges of the porphyrin ring contained phenyl substituents as in meso-tetraphenylporphyrin, rotation of the phenyl rings almost at right angles to the macrocyclic plane prevented the formation of double-layer complexes, and the product obtained on treatment of meso-tetraphenylporphyrin with Hg2A in tetrahydro-



furan-methylene chloride had the structure 321.304,305



Interesting complexes derived from Tl(III) have also been reported. For example the oxythallated adduct of norbornadiene reacted with tetraphenylporphyrin to give the complex 322.³⁰⁶ A number of other similar Tl(III) complexes with R = Me and Cl have also been reported.³⁰⁷ The structure is characterized by a large displacement of the thallium atom from the porphyrin plane by 0.9 Å.

Registry No. Hg(OAc)₂, 1600-27-7; Tl(OAc)₃, 2570-63-0; Pb-(OAc)₄, 546-67-8.

References

- (1) Freeman, F. Chem. Rev. 1975, 75, 439.
- Kitching, W. Organomet. Chem. Rev. 1968, 3, 63; Organomet. React. 1972, 3, 319. (2)
- Traylor, T. G. Acc. Chem. Res. 1969, 2, 152
- Seyferth, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1974, 75, 13; 1975, 98, 133.

- Seyferth, D. J. Organomet. Chem. 1974, 75, 13; 1975, 98, 133.
 Arzoumanian, H.; Metzger, J. Synthesis 1971, 527.
 Kitching, W. Organomet. Chem. Rev. 1968, 3, 35.
 Norman, R. O. C.; Taylor, R. "Reaction Mechanisms in Organic Chemistry"; Elsevier: New York, 1965; Vol. 3, p 194.
 Gunstone, F. D. Acc. Chem. Res. 1976, 9, 34.
 R. J. Ouellette "Oxidation in Organic Chemistry"; Trahanovsky, W. S., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1973; Part B, p 135.
- B, p 135.
 McKillop, A. Pure Appl. Chem. 1975, 43, 463. McKillop, A.; Taylor, E. C. Chem. Br. 1973, 9, 4. McKillop, A.; Taylor, E.
- Taylor, E. C. Chem. Br. 1973, 9, 4. McKillop, A.; Taylor, E. C. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1973, 11, 147.
 (11) Criegee, R "Oxidation in Organic Chemistry"; Wilberg, K. B., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1965; Part A, p 277; cf. also Angew. Chem. 1958, 70, 173.
 (12) Butler, R. N. Synth. Reagents 1977, 3, 277.
 (13) Rubottom, G. M. "Oxidation in Organic Chemistry"; Trahanovsky, W. S., Ed.; Academic Press: New York, 1982; Part D. p. 1.

- D, p 1.
 (14) Butler, R. N. Synth. Reagents 1981, 4, 1.
 (15) Moariarty, R. M. Sel. Org. Transform. 1972, 2, 183.
 (16) (a) Mihailovich, M. Lj.; Partch, R. E. Sel. Org. Transform. 1972, 2, 97. (b) cf. also: Mihailovich, M. Lj; Cekovic, Z. 1972, 2, 97. (b) cl. and. Animatovici, An. 2, Construction, Synthesis, 1970, 209.
 (17) Sheldon, R. A.; Kochi, J. K. Org. React. 1972, 19, 279.
 (18) Perlin, A. S. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. 1959, 14, 9.
 (19) Aylward, J. B. Q. Rev. Chem. Soc. 1971, 25, 407.
 (19) State and State

- (20) Butler, R. N., Scott, F. L.; O'Mahoney, T. A. F. Chem. Rev. 1973, 73, 93.
- (21) Butler, R. N. Chem. Ind. (London) 1972, 523.
 (22) Butler, R. N. Chem. Ind. (London) 1968, 437.
 (23) Butler, R. N. Chem. Ind. (London) 1976, 499.

- (24) Warkentin, J. Synthesis 1970, 279.
- Breitinger, D.; Brodersen, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. (25)1970, 9, 357
- Greenspan, F. F. U.S. Patent 2661 360, 1953; Chem. Abstr. (26)1954, 48, 4189g.
- (27) MacKeller, D. G. U.S. Patent 2873289, 1959; Chem. Abstr. 1959, 53, 10683g.
- Dimroth, O.; Schweitzer, R. Ber. 1923, 56, 1375. Hutchinson, A.; Pollard, W. J. Chem. Soc. 1896, 212. Mendel, H. Recl. Trav. Chim. 1940, 59, 720; Chem. Abstr. (30)
- 1**94**1, *35*, 7663² (31) South, A., Jr.; Ouellette, R., J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90,
- 7064.
- (32) Kolling, O. W.; Mawdsley, E. A. Trans. Kans. Acad. Sci. 1971, 74, 38; Chem. Abstr. 1974, 80, 90447e.
 (33) Tomicek, O. Sbornik Celostatni Pracovni Konf. Anal. Chem.
- 1952, 1, 246; Chem. Abstr. 1955, 49, 15603a.
- Tomicek, O.; Zukriegelova, M. Chem. Listy 1952, 46, 263; Chem. Abstr. 1953, 47, 67c. Latimer, W. M. "Oxidation Potentials", 2nd ed.; Prentice (34)
- (35)
- (35) Latimer, W. M. Oxtuation rotentials, 2nd ed., rotentials Hall: Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1952.
 (36) Berka, A.; Dvorak, V., Nemec, I.; Zyka, J. J. Electroanal. Chem. 1962, 4, 150; Chem. Abstr. 1961, 55, 211f.
 (37) March P. Asta Constallant Sort A 1963, 164, 34
- (37)
- Kamenar, B. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A 1963, 16A, 34. Heusler, K.; Loeliger, H. Helv. Chim. Acta. 1969, 52, 1495. (38)(39)Faggiani, R.; Brown, I. D. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B 1978,
- B34, 2845. Puff, H.; Lorbacher, G.; Skabs, R. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. B (40) 1965, 19, 870
- (41) Allman, R. Z. Kristallogr. Kristallogeom. Kristallophys.
- Kristallochem. 1973, 138, 366; Chem. Abstr. 1974, 80, 75256y. Mahapatra, P.; Aditya, S.; Prasad, B. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1953, 30, 509; Chem. Abstr. 1954, 48, 5611i. (42)
- Partch, R.; Monthony, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1969, 4427.
- (44) Davidson, A. W.; Lanning, W. C.; Zeller, M. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1942, 64, 1523. (45) Rudakoff, G. Z. Naturforsch. B: Anorg. Chem. Org. Chem.
- 1962, 17B, 623.
- (46) Evans, E. A.; Huston, J. L.; Norris, T. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1952, 74, 4985.
- (47) Abraham, R. J.; Hawkes, G. E.; Smith, K. M. Tetrahedron
- (4) Kolanan, R. S. Hawkes, G. E., Shirdi, K. M. Terranderon Lett. 1975, 1999.
 (48) Barron, P. F. J. Organomet. Chem. 1982, 236, 157.
 (49) El-Meligy; Huber, F. Z. Anorg. Chem. 1973, 399, 349; Chem. Abstr. 1973, 79, 132452.
- (50) Gillespie, R. J.; Kappoor, R.; Robinson, E. A. Can. J. Chem. 1966, 44, 1197.
 (51) Pal, R. C.; Puri, J. K.; Malhatra, K. C. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem.
- 1973, 35, 403.
- (52) Klopman, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 223.
 (53) Muller, K. Zentralbl. Arbeitsmed. Arbeitsschutz 1953, 3, 8; Chem. Abstr. 1955, 49, 13515g. "Hazards in the Chemical Laboratory"; Muir, G. D., Ed.;
- (54) Royal Institute of Chemistry: London, 1974.
- (55) Bergmann, F.; Costin, A.; Chaimovitz, M.; Zerachia, A. Neuropharmacology 1970, 9, 441; Chem. Abstr. 1971, 74, 11804u.
 (56) Fitzhugh, O. G.; Nelson, A. A.; Leug, E. P.; King, F. M. Arch. Ind. Hyg. Occup. Med. 1950, 2, 433; Chem. Abstr. 1951, 45, 1951, 45, 1237c.
- (57) Galbiani, G.; Baic, D.; Deizel, C. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 1967, 45, 443; Chem. Abstr. 1967, 67, 9871a
- (58) Swensson, A.; Ulfvarson, U. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. 1968, 26, 273; Chem. Abstr. 1968, 69, 17709k. Prickett, C. S.; Lang, E. P.; Kunze, F. M. Proc. Soc. Exp.
- (59) Biol. Med. 1950, 73, 585; Chem. Abstr. 1950, 44, 6965d.
- Grunfeld, O.; Hinostroza, G. Arch. Intern. Med. 1964, 114, (60)
- (61) Gale, T. F.; Ferm, V. H. Life Sci. 1971, 10 (Part 2), 1341 Chem. Abstr. 1972, 76, 108841h.
 (62) Carr, R. M.; Norman, R. O. C.; Vernon, J. M. J. Chem. Soc.,
- Perkin Trans. 1 1980, 156.
- (63) Harrison, M. J.; Norman, R. O. C.; Gladstone, W. A. F. J. Chem. Soc. C 1967, 735.
- (64) Butler, R. N.; King, W. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1**977**, 282
- (65) Butler, R. N.; Morris, G. J.; O'Donohue, A. M. J. Chem. Soc., (6) Butler, R. N., Morris, G. S., O Dononde, A. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1981, 1243.
 (66) McKillop, A.; Hunt, J. D.; Naylor, R. D.; Taylor, E. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 4918.
 (67) Lortie, R.; Zador, M. Can. J. Chem. 1980, 58, 1305.
 (68) Iffland, D. C.; Criner, G. X. Chem. Ind. (London) 1956, 176.

- Just, G.; Dahl, K. Tetrahedron 1968, 24, 5251 (69)
- Tanaka, S.; Kido, H.; Uemura, S.; Okana, M. Bull. Chem. (70)
- Soc. Jpn. 1975, 48, 3415. Fleming, I. In "Frontier Orbitals and Organic Chemical Reactions"; J. Wiley and Sons Ltd.: London, 1978; (a) p 33; (71)(b) p 65
- Strašák, M.f Majer, J. Chem. Zvesti 1981, 35, 797; Strašák (72)M. Z. Naturforsch. B: Anorg. Chem., Org. Chem. 1978, 33B, 224.

274 Chemical Reviews, 1984, Vol. 84, No. 3

- (73) Butler, R. N.; O'Donohue, A. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1979, 1387.
- Leonard, N. J.; Sauers, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, (74)6210 (75)Leonard, N. J.; Morrow, D. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1958, 80,
- 371.(76) Leonard, N. J. Hauck, F. P., Jr. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79,
- 5279(77) Leonard, N. J.; Fulmer, R. W.; Hay, A. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1956, 78, 3457.
- Leonard, N. J.; Miller, L. A.; Thomas, P. D. J. Am. Chem. (78)
- Soc. 1956, 78, 3463 (79) Arata, Y.; Yasuda, S.; Fugito, R. Yakugaku Zasshi 1974, 95, 439; Chem. Abstr. 1975, 83, 59130j.
- (80) Galliani, G.; Rindone, B.; Scolastico, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1975, 1885.
- (81) Neugebauer, F. A.; Bamberger, S.; Groh, W. R. Chem. Ber. 1975, 108, 2406.
- (82) Galliani, G.; Rindone, B.; Beltrame, P. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1976, 1803.
- (83) Rindone, B.; Scolastico, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1974, 3379.
 (84) Arnoldi, A.; Galliani, G.; Rindone, B.; Beltrame, P. L. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1978, 108, 127; Chem. Abstr. 1978, 89, 214668. Galliani, G.; Rindone, B. Second International Conference on Organic Free Radicals, 1977, Aix-en-Provence (CNRS); Abstr. No. 278, p 263
- (85) Galliani, G.; Rindone, B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1980,
- (86) Neumann, W. P.; Kühlein, P. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1972, 10.289
- (87) Nakagawa, I.; Shimanouchi, T. Spectrochim. Acta 1966, 22,
- (88) Rüdorff, W.; Brodersen, K. Angew. Chem. 1952, 64, 617.
 (89) Butler, R. N.; Johnston, S. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1981, 376, and ref 232 also.
- (90) Butler, R. N.; Hanahoe, A. B. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1977.622
- (91) Butler, R. N.; Hanahoe, A. B.; King, W. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1978, 881.
 (92) Dyall, L. K. Aust. J. Chem. 1979, 32, 643.
 (93) Okazaki, R.; Hosogai, T.; Hashimoto, M.; Inamoto, N Bull.
- Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1969, 42, 3559. Gassman, P. G.; Campbell, G. A.; Frederick, R. C. J. Am. (94)
- Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 3884 (95)
- (96)
- Galliani, G.; Rindone, B. J. Chem. Res. Synop. 1980, 178. Campbell, C. D.; Rees, C. W. Chem. Commun. 1965, 192. Campbell, C. D.; Rees, C. W. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 742, 748, (97) 752.
- (98)
- (99)
- Fleet, G. W. J.; Fleming, I. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 1758. Perera, R. C.; Smalley, R. K. Chem. Commun. 1970, 1458. Nakazawa, T.; Murata, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1975, (100)4.711.

- (101) Sakai, K.; Anselme, J.-P. Org. Prep. Proced. Int. 1975, 7, 61.
 (102) Rees, C. W.; Storr, R. C. Chem. Commun. 1965, 193.
 (103) Rees, C. W.; Storr, R. C. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 760, 765.
 (104) Anderson, D. J.; Gilchrist, T. L.; Horwell, D. C.; Rees, C. W. J. Chem. Soc. C 1970, 576.
- (105) Hayes, L. J.; Billingsley, F. P.; Trindle, C. J. Org. Chem. 1972,
- 37, 3924 (106) Hoesch, L.; Dreiding, A. S. Helv. Chim. Acta. 1975, 58, 1995. (107) Stojiljković, A.; Andrejević, V.; Mihailovic, M. Lj. Tetrahe-
- dron 1967, 23, 721.
- (108) Mihailović, M. Lj.; Stoijilković, A.; Andrejević, V. Tetrahedron Lett. 1965, 461. (109) Baumgarten, H. E.; McLaen, D. F.; Taylor, H. W. J. Org.
- Chem. 1971, 36, 3668. (110) Roth, H. J.; Brandau, A. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim, Ger.)
- 1960, 293, 27
- (111) Baumgarten, H. E.; McLaen, D. F.; Taylor, H. W. J. Org. Chem. 1971, 36, 3668.
 (112) Moehrle, H.; Schittenhelm, D. Chem. Ber. 1971, 104, 2475. Moehrle, H.; Haug, W.; Federoff, E. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1973, 306, 44.
 (113) Nagata W. Hirai S. Karmata V. Ashi T. J. Am. Ch. Comp. 2010.
- Nagata, W.; Hirai, S.; Kawata, K.; Aoki, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (113)(116) Nagata, W., Januar, J., 1967, 89, 5045.
 (114) Nagata, W.; Wakabayashi, T.; Haga, N. Synth. Commun.
- 1972, 2, 11.
- Portoghese, P. S.; Sepp, D. T. Tetrahedron 1973, 29, 2253. Narisada, M.; Watanabe, F.; Nagata, W. Synth. Commun. (116)
- 1972, 2, 21
- (117) Hodjat, H.; Lattes, A.; Laval, J. P.; Moulines, J.; Périé, J. J. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1972, 9, 1081.
 (118) Roussel, J.; Périé, J. J.; Laval, J. P.; Lattes, A. Tetrahedron 1972, 28, 701.
 (119) Périé, J. J.; Laval, J. P.; Roussel, J.; Lattes, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1971, 4290
- (119) Ferle, J. J.; Lavai, J. F., Roussel, J., Lattes, A. Ferlenetaron Lett. 1971, 4399.
 (120) Hiyama, T.; Koide, H.; Nazaki, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1973, 2143; Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1975, 48, 2918.
 (121) Sisti, A. J.; Milstein, S. R. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 3932.
 (122) Starnes, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 1807.

(123) Norman, R. O. C.; and Watson, R. A. J. Chem. Soc. B 1968. 184.

Butler

- 184.
 (124) Pausacker, K. H.; Scroggie, J. G. J. Chem. Soc. 1954, 4003.
 (125) Baer, E.; Tasoni, A. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1956, 78, 2857.
 (126) Richter, H. J.; Dressler, R. L. J. Org. Chem. 1962, 27, 4066.
 (127) Hoffmann, R. W. Chem. Ber. 1964, 97, 2763; 1965, 98, 222.
 (128) Clement, R. A. J. Org. Chem. 1960, 25, 1724; 1962, 27, 1115.
 (129) Dimroth, K.; Falk, F.; Nebauer, G. Chem. Ber. 1957, 90, 2058.
 (130) Neugebauer, F. A.; Bamberger, S.; Groh, W. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 1973, 2247. Lett. 1973. 2247.
- Okazaki, R.; Hosogai, T.; Hashimoto, M.; Inamoto, N. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1969, 42, 3559.
 Harrison, M. J.; Norman, R. O. C. J. Chem. Soc. C 1970, 728.
 Nakagawa, K.; Onoue, H. Chem. Commun. 1965, 396.
 Kobrina, L. S.; Akulenko, N. V.; Yakobson, G. G. Zh. Org.
 Khim. 1072, 9, 2075. Chem. Abria. 1072, 75, 55905. (131)
- (132)
- (133)
- (134)
- Khim. 1972, 8, 2375, Chem. Abstr. 1973, 78, 58326n. Campbell, C. D.; Rees, C. W. Chem. Commun. 1965, 192. Jirakova, H.; Cifka, J. Radioisotopy 1971, 12, 1011; Chem. Abstr. 1972, 76, 99789. (135)(136)
- (137) Friedman, H. A.; Koelle, G. B. Org. Prep. Proc. Int. 1973, 5, 251; Chem. Abstr. 1973, 79, 137248n.
 (138) Arient, J.; Podstata, J. Czech. Patent 149 904 and 149 905,
- 1973; Chem. Abstr. 1974, 80, 70970, 70971; Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 1974, 39, 955.
- (139) Milaev, A. G.; Okhlobystin, O. Yu. Zh. Obshch. Khim. 1978, 48, 469; Chem. Abstr. 1978, 88, 191012.
- (140) Wirth, T. H.; Davidson, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 4314, 4318.
- (141) Taylor, E. C. Beardsley, G. P.; Maki, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1971, 36.3211.
- (142) Matsumato, A.; Yoshida, M.; Simamura, O. Bull. Chem. Soc. Maki, Y.; Taylor, E. C. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1972, 20, 605. Schäfer, W.; Moore, H. W.; Aquado, A. Synthesis 1974, 30. Stevens, F. F.; Bower, J. D. J. Chem. Soc. 1949, 2971.
- (143)
- (144)
- (145)

- (145) Stevens, F. F.; Bower, J. D. J. Chem. Soc. 1949, 2971.
 (146) Stevens, F. F. Nature (London) 1949, 164, 342.
 (147) Stevens, F. F.; Bower, J. D. J. Chem. Soc. 1950, 1722.
 (148) Grellmann, K.; Tauer, E. Tetrahedron Lett. 1967, 1909.
 (149) Roling, P. V.; Kirt, D. D.; Dill, J. L.; Hall, S.; Hollstrom, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1976, 116, 39.
 (150) Roling, P. V.; Pickering, R. A. J. Organomet. Chem. 1976, 1920.
- 122, 289
- Leonard, N. J.; Cook, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1959, 81, 5627. Kuabe, J.; Kubitz, J. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1963, (151)
- (152)296. 532
- (153) Arata, Y.; Yasuda, S.; Fujito, R. Yakugaku Zasshi 1974, 95, 439; Chem. Abstr. 1975, 83, 59130.
 (154) Brown, R. T.; Chapple, C. L.; Charalambides, A. A. J. Chem.
- oc., Chem. Commun. 1974, 756.
- Bárczai-Beke, M.; Dörnyei, G.; Kajtár, M.; Szántay, Cs. Tetrahedron 1976, 32, 1019. (155)
- (156)
- 157)
- Aylward, J. B. J. Chem. Soc. C 1970, 1494. Iffland, D. C.; Cerda, E. J. Org. Chem. 1963, 28, 2769. Liebman, A. A.; Mundy, B. P.; Rapoport, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 664. (158)
- (159) Leete, E. Chem. Commun. 1971, 1524.
- Liebman, A. A.; Mundy, B. P.; Rueppel, M. L.; Rapoport, H. (160)Chem. Commun. 1972, 1022.
- Bartlett, M. F.; Lambert, B. F.; Taylor, W. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 729. (161)
- (162) Castedo, L.; Suan, R.; Mourino, A. Heterocycles 1975, 3, 449.
 (163) Kutney, J. P.; Bunzli-Trepp, U.; Chan, K. K.; de Souza, J. P.; Fujise, Y.; Honda, T.; Katsube, J.; Klein, F. K.; Leutwiler, A.; Morehead, S.; Rohr, M.; Worth, B. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 4220.
- (164) Sakai, S.; Kubo, A.; Haginiwa, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1969, 1485.
- Nagata, W.; Wakabayashi, T.; Hayase, Y.; Narisada, M.;
 Kamata, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 93, 3202.
 Moore, R. E.; Rapoport, H. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38, 215.
 Subba Rao, N. V.; Seshadri, T. R. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci.
 1939, 10A, 1; Chem. Abstr. 1939, 33, 8572⁴. (165)
- (166)
- (167)(168)
- (169)
- Ley, H.; Schaefer, K. Ber. 1903, 55, 5072. Ley, H.; Schaefer, K. Ber. 1902, 35, 1309. Kutzelnigg, W.; Mecke, R. Spectrochim. Acta. 1962, 18, 549. Kamenar, B.; Grdenic, D. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1969, 3, 25; Chem. Abstr. 1969, 71, 7512t. Baumgarten, H. E.; Smith, H. L.; Staklis, A. J. Org. Chem. 1075, 40, 2554. Baumgarten, H. E.; Staklis, A. J. Org. Chem. (170)
- (171)1975, 40, 3554. Baumgarten, H. E.; Staklis, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 1141.
- (172) Acott, B.; Beckwith, A. L. J.; Hassanali, A. Aust. J. Chem. 1968, 21, 197, 185.
- (173) Butler, R. N.; Hanahoe, A. B., O'Donohue, A. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1979, 1246.
 (174) Rees, C. W.; Sale, A. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1973,
- 545. (175) Zinner, G.; Krause, T. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1977,
- 310. 704.
- (176) Cooley, J. H.; Atchison, J. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1969, 4449.
 (177) Dorn, H.; Dilcher, H. Liebigs. Ann. Chem. 1968, 717, 104.
 (178) Oppolzer, W.; Weber, H. P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972, 1711.

- (179) Simons, S. S. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38, 414.
 (180) Beckwith, A. L. J.; Hickman, R. Aust. J. Chem. 1968, 21, 2756. Beckwith, A. L. J. Ger. Offen. 1926475, 1970; Chem. Abstr. 1971, 74, 76430p. Beckwith, A. L. J.; Hickman, R. J. J. Chem. Soc. C 1968, 2756. (a) Bhat, K. S.; Rao, A. S. Org. Proc. Int 1982, 15, 203.
- J. Chem. Soc. C 1968, 2756. (a) Bhat, K. S.; Rao, A. S. Org. Prep. Proc. Int. 1983, 15, 303.
 (181) Moehrle, H.; Hemmerling, H. J. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim, Ger.) 1978, 311, 586; Chem. Abstr. 1978, 89, 163531a.
 (182) Ahmad, F.; Kumar, S. Indian J. Chem., Sect A. 1982, 21A, 567; Chem. Abstr. 1983, 98, 71241p.
 (183) Aylward, J. B. J. Chem. Soc. C 1969, 1633.
 (184) Aylward, J. B.; Norman, R. O. C. J. Chem. Soc. C 1968, 2399.
 (185) Banthiya, U. S.; Joshi, B. C.; Gupta, Y. K. Indian J. Chem., Soct A. 1981, 20A 43; Chem. Abstr. 1981, 95 A1907

- Sect. A. 1981, 20A, 43; Chem. Abstr. 1981, 95, 41907
- (186) Butler, R. N.; James, J. P. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1982, 553. (Compound 6 in this paper is the acetate salt of the azopyrazoline (165), R¹ = R² = Me.)
- (187) Stephanidou-Stephanatou, J. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1983, 20, 431
- (188) Stephanidou-Stephanatou, J. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1983, 20, 845
- (189) Butler, R. N.; James, J. P. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1983, 627.
- (190) Balachandran, K. S.; Hiryakkanavar, I.; George, M. V. Tetrahedron 1975, 31, 1171. (191) Ohsawa, A.; Arai, H.; Ohnishi, H.; Igeta, H. J. Chem. Soc.,
- Chem. Commun. 1980, 1182
- (192) Zeiger, A. V.; Joullie, M. M. J. Org. Chem. 1977, 42, 542.
 (193) Knowles, C. M.; Watt, G. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1942, 64, 935.

- (194) Vernin, G.; Siv, C.; Metzger, J. Synthesis 1977, 691.
 (195) Vernin, G.; Coen, S.; Poite, J.-C. C. R. Hebd. Seances Acad. Sci., Ser. C 1977, C284, 277.
 (196) Peringer, P. Z. Naturforsch., B: Anorg. Chem. Org. Chem.
- 1978, 33B, 1091; Chem. Abstr. 1979, 90, 23203.
- (197) Nesmeyanov, A. N.; Fedin, E. I.; Peregudov, A. S.; Fedorov L. A.; Kravtsov, D. N.; Borisov, E. V.; Kiryazev, F. Yu. J. Organomet. Chem. 1979, 169, 1
- (198) Camaggi, C. M.; Tiecco, M.; Tundo, A. J. Chem. Soc. B 1968,
- (199) Butler, R. N.; Garvin, V. C. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1982, 183.
 (200) Emmer, G.; Zbiral, E. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1979, (6), 796; Chem. Abstr. 1979, 91, 91221.
- (201) Koga, G.; Anselme, J.-P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 4323.
 (202) Mataka, S.; Anselme, J.-P. Chem. Lett. 1973, 51; Chem. Abstr. 1973, 78, 84379b.
- Norman, R. O. C.; Purchase, R.; Thomas, C. B.; Aylward, J. (203)
- B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1972, 1692. (204) Kuehne, M. E.; T. J. Giacobbe, J. Org. Chem. 1968, 33, 3359. (205) Corbani, F.; Rindone, B.; Scolastico, C. Tetrahedron 1973, 29,

- (206) McKillop, A.; Taylor, E. C. Chem. Br. 1973, 9, 4.
 (207) May, G. L.; Pinhey, J. T. Aust. J. Chem. 1982, 35, 1859.
 (208) Iida, Y.; Yuasa, Y.; Kibayashi, C. Synthesis 1982, 471.
 (209) Boar, R. B.; McGhie, J. F.; Robinson, M.; Barton, D. H. R.; Horwell, D. C.; Stick, R. V. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1, 1975, 1237
- (210) Board, R. B.; McGhie, J. F.; Robinson, M.; Barton, D. H. R. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1975, 1242
- (211) (a) Vernon, J. M.; Carr, R. M.; Sukari, M. A. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1982, 115; (b) Khetan, S. K. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Čommun. **1972**, 917.
- (212) Paradisi, M. P.; Zecchini, G. P. Tetrahedron 1977, 33, 1732.
- (213) Back, T. G.; Edwards, O. E.; MacAlpine, G. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1977, 2651.
- (a) Butler, R. N.; Morris, G. J.; O'Donohue, A. M. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 2 1981, 1243. (b) Butler, R. N.; Morris, (214)G. J. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans 1 1980, 2218.
- (215) Butler, R. N.; King, W. B. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1 1976, 986.
- (216) Lambe, T. M.; Butler, R. N.; Scott, F. L. Chem. Ind. (London) 1971, 996.
- (217) Rodios, N. A.; Alexandrou, N. E. Synthesis 1982, 824.
- (218) Stephanidou-Stephanatou, J.; Lefkopoulou, S. J. Heterocycl.
- Chem. 1982, 19, 705. (219) O'Mahony, T. A. F.; Butler, R. N.; Scott, F. L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1972, 1319.
- (220) Butler, R. N.; Hanahoe, A. B.; O'Donohue, A. M. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1979, 1246.
 (221) Bhati, A. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1965, 476.
- (222) Butler, R. N.; O'Donohue, A. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1979, 4583.
- (223) Butler, R. N.; Morris, G. J.; O'Donohue, A. M. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1981, 61.
- (224) Balakrishna, R.; Srinivasan, V. S.; Venkatasubramanian, N. Indian. J. Chem., Sect A. 1981, 20A, 476.
- (225)
- Kuhn, R.; Jerchel, D. Chem. Ber. 1941, 74B, 941. Scott, F. L.; O'Sullivan, D. A.; Reilly, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (226)1953, 75, 5309.

- (227) Hirsch, B. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1961, 648, 151.
- Ashley, J. N.; Davis, B. M.; Nineham, A. W.; Slack, R. J. Chem. Soc. 1953, 3881. (228)
- (229) Sedov, Yu. A.; Postovskii, I. Ya. Zh. Org. Khim. 1969, 5, 781; Chem. Abstr. 1969, 71, 22074.
- (230) Balakrishnan, R.; Srinivasan, V. S.; Venkatasubramanian, N. Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 1981, 20B, 404.
 (231) Kuhn, R.; Munzing, W. Chem. Ber. 1952, 85, 29.
 (232) Butler, R. N.; Johnston, S. M. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans
- 1, in press
- (233) Butler, R. N.; James, J. P. J. Chem. Res., Synop. 1982, 348.
 (234) Stojiljković, A.; Orbović, N.; Sredojević, S.; Mihailović, M. Lj. Tetrahedron, 1970, 26, 1101.
- (235) Barton, D. H. R.; McGhie, J. F.; Batten, P. L. J. Chem. Soc. C 1970, 1033.
- Gale, D. M.; Middleton, W. J.; Krespan, C. G. J. Am. Chem. (236)Soc. 1966, 88, 3617
- (237) Krespan, C. G.; Middleton, W. J. J. Org. Chem. 1965, 30, 1398

- 1398.
 (238) Ciganek, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1965, 87, 657.
 (239) Kiekmann, J. J. Org. Chem. 1963, 2933.
 (240) Ciganek, E. J. Org. Chem. 1965, 30, 4198.
 (241) Ciganek, E. J. Org. Chem. 1970, 35, 862.
 (242) Yates, P.; Garneau, F. X. Tetrahedron Lett. 1967, 71.
 (243) (a) Nesmeyanov, A. N.; Reutov, O. A.; Loseva, A. S.; Khorlina, M. Ya. Izv. Akad. Nauk. SSSR., Otdel. Khim. Nauk.
 1958, 1315; Chem. Abstr. 1959, 53, 6996a. Giese, B.; Erfort, U. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1981, 21, 130; Chem. Ber.
 1983, 116, 1240 1983, 116, 1240.
- Nesmeyanov, A N.; Reutov, O. A.; Loseva, A. S.; Khorlina, M. Ya. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Otdel. Khim. Nauk. 1959, 50; Chem. Abstr. 1959, 53, 14965f. (244)
- Gudkov, A. S.; Aleimkova, M. Ya.; Reutov, O. A. Izv. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, Ser. Khim. 1966, 849; Chem. Abstr. 1966, 65, (245)10623h.
- Nesmeyanov, A. N. Reutov, O. A.; Loseva, A. S. Dokl. Akad. (246)Nauk. SSSR 1956, 111, 835; Chem. Abstr. 1957, 51, 9535a. Yukawa, Y.; Sakai, M.; Suzuki, S. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1966,
- (247)39, 2266; Chem. Abstr. 1967, 66, 10695n.
- (248)Kropf, H.; Lambeck, R. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1966, 700, 1.
- (249) Kropf, H.; Lambeck, R. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1966, 700, 18.
 (250) Lown, J. W. J. Chem. Soc. B 1966, 441.

- (251) Kropf, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1965, 4, 983.
 (252) Just, G.; Dahl, K. Tetrahedron 1968, 24, 5251.
 (253) Just, G.; Dahl, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1966, 2441.
 (254) Gilbert, B. C.; Norman, R. O. C. J. Chem. Soc. B 1966, 86.
 (255) Lemaire, H.; Rassat, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1964, 2245.
 (256) Bethour, M.; Loreize, H.; Pacarat, A. Bull, Soc. Chim. Exp.
- Bethoux, M.; Lemaire, H.; Rassat, A. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1964, 1985. (256)
- (257)
- (258)
- Gilbert, B. G.; Norman, R. O. C. J. Phys. Chem. 1967, 71, 14. Lown, J. W. J. Chem. Soc. B 1966, 644. Caragheorgheopol, A.; Caldararu, H.; Constantinescu, T.; Sahini, V. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 6766. (259)
- (260) Kropf, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1965, 4, 1091.
 (261) Balakrishnan, T.; Santappa, M. Int. J. Chem. Kinet. 1978, 10,
- 883; Chem. Abstr. 1978, 89, 162781v.
- (262) Balakrishnan, T.; Santappa, M. J. Indian Chem. Soc. 1978, 55, 1014; Chem. Abstr. 1979, 90, 137051v.
- (263) Sawai, H.; Takizawa, T.; Iitaka, Y. J. Organomet. Chem. 1976, 120, 161. (264) Sawai, H.; Takizawa, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972, 4263. (265) Sawai, H.; Takizawa, T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1975, 94, 333.

- (266) Rindone, B.; Santaniello, E.; Scolastico, C. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972, 192
- (267)
- Albrecht, H.; Hagena, D. Chem. Ber. 1976, 109, 2345. McKillop, A.; Swann, B. P.; Taylor, E. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 3340. (268)
- (269) Chaudhury, S.; Debroy, A.; Mahajan, M. P. Can. J. Chem.
- (259) Chaudnury, S.; Debroy, A.; Manajan, M. P. Can. J. Chem. 1982, 60, 1122.
 (270) Gilchrist, T. L.; Harris, C. J.; Hawkins, D. G.; Moody, C. J.; Rees, C. W. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 1976, 2166.
 (271) Bratož-Stres, J.; Polanc, S.; Stanovnik, B.; Tišler, M. Tetra-hedron Lett. 1975, 4429.
 (272) Gillis, B. T.; Weinkam, R. J. Org. Chem. 1967, 32, 3321.
 (273) Rees, C. W.; Yelland, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1969, 377.
 (274) Cillis, B. T.; Belenteur, I. C. I. Hetarocuel, Chem. 1970, 7.

- (274) Gillis, B. T.; Balentour, J. C. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1970, 7,
- 1131.
- (275) Nagata, W.; Kamata, S. J. Chem. Soc. C 1970, 540.
 (276) Taylor, E. C.; Robey, R. L.; McKillop, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1972, 11, 48.
- Taylor, E. C.; Robey, R. L.; McKillop, A. J. Org. Chem. 1972, (277)37, 2797.

Trofimenko, S. Chem. Rev. 1972, 72, 497. O'Connor, G. N.; Growford, J. V.; Wang, H. C. J. Org. Chem.

Freeman, J. P. J. Org. Chem. 1963, 28, 885. (278)(279) De Luca, G.; Panattoni, C.; Renzi, G. Tetrahedron 1976, 32,

1909.

1965, 30, 4090.

(280)

(281)

- (282) Mingoia, Q. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1930, 60, 509.
 (283) Ramachandrau, L. K.; Witkop, B. Biochemistry 1964, 3, 1603.
 (284) Kirby, G. W.; Shah, S. W. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1965, 381.

- 1965, 381.
 (285) Banerji, A.; Ray, R. Indian J. Chem., Sect. B. 1978, 16B, 422; Chem. Abstr. 1979, 90, 6272v.
 (286) Finch, N.; Gemenden, C. W.; Hsu, I. H.-C.; Taylor, W. I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1963, 85, 1520.
 (287) Tertov, B. A.; Koblik, A. V.; Onishchenko, P. P. Zh. Obsch. Khim. 1974, 44, 628; Chem. Abstr. 1974, 81, 4027.
 (288) Bayer, I.; Posgay, E.; Majlat, P. Pharm. Zentralhalle 1962, 101, 476; Chem. Abstr. 1963, 59, 625d.
 (289) Evans, C. A. Rabenstein, D. L.; Geier, G.; Erni, I. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 8106.
 (290) Jones, G.; Sliakovic, D. R.; Foster, B.; Rogers, J.; Smith, A. K.; Yong, M. Y.; Yarham, A. C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1981, 78.
 (291) Confalone, P. N.; Woodward, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983,
- (291) Confalone, P. N.; Woodward, R. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 902.

- (292) Butler, R. N. Garvin, V., unpublished work.
 (293) Hoefle, G.; Lange, B. Angew. Chem. 1976, 88, 89.
 (294) Gusinskaya, S. L.; Telly, V. Yu; Makagonova, T. P. Khim. Geterotsikl. Soedin. 1970, 345; Chem. Abstr. 1970, 73, 66486b.

- (295) Gusinskaya, S. L.; Telly, V. Yu.; Ovchinnikova, N. L. Uzb. *Khim. Zh.* 1971, 47; *Chem. Abstr.* 1972, 76, 72617y.
 (296) Avidon, V. V.; Schukina, M. N. *Khim. Geterosikl. Soedin.* 1966, 292, *Chem. Abstr.* 1966, 65, 2254g.
 (297) Bernton D. F.: Buth I. J. J. Carbohudr. Nucleopides
- (297) Bergstrom, D. E.; Ruth, J. L. J. Carbohydr. Nucleosides, Nucleotides 1977, 4, 257; Chem. Abstr. 1978, 88, 74517n.
 (298) Ikekawa, N.; Hoshino, O.; Honma, Y. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1969, 17, 906.
 (299) Mansy, S.; Tobias, R. S. Inorg. Chem. 1975, 14, 287.
 (300) Ohler, E.; Tataruch, F.; Schmidt, U. Chem. Ber. 1973, 106,

- 396.
- (301) Machin, P. J.; Sammes, P. G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1, 1976, 624. Hudson, M. F.; Smith, K. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun.
- (302) 1973, 515.
- (303) Miller, J. R.; Dorough, G. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1952, 74, 3977
- (304)
- Hudson, M. F.; Smith, K. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1974, 2223. Hudson, M. F.; Smith, K. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1974, 2227. Brady, F.; Henrick, K.; Mathews, R. W. J. Organomet. Chem. (305)(306)
- **1981**, 210, 281. Henrick, K.; Mathews, R. W.; Tasker, P. A. Inorg. Chem. **1977**, 16, 3293. (307)